
A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 7



CAUTION REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains certain forward-looking statements and 
opinions with respect to the operations and businesses of MEC. 
These forward-looking statements and opinions relate to, among 
other things, our objectives, goals, strategies, intentions, plans, 
beliefs, expectations, and estimates and are generally indicated 
by the use of forward-looking terminology such as believe, expect, 
anticipate, estimate, plan, project, target, may, will, or other results 
of actions that may or are expected to occur in the future. You should 
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements 
and opinions, which apply only as of the date of this Report. These 
forward-looking statements are based on MEC’s own information and 
on information from other sources which MEC believes to be reliable. 

Our actual results may be materially less favourable than those 
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements and 
opinions which could affect the market price of our shares. You should 
also read the risk factors set out under our circulars, announcements, 
and reports for each of the transactions, which are deemed 
incorporated and form part of this document and as qualification 
to the statements relating to the relevant subject matters. Neither 
MEC nor its directors and employees assume any liability in the event 
that any forward-looking statements or opinions do not materialize 
or turn out to be incorrect. Subject to the requirements of the Hong 
Kong Listing Rules, MEC does not undertake to update any forward-
looking statements or opinions contained in this Report.

中文譯本

本年報之中文譯本可向蒙古能源有限公司索取。

中英文版本內容如有歧異，概以英文版本作準。

本年報內所有照片均由蒙古能源拍攝。在未經蒙古能源許可下，不得複製、披露或發佈

本年報內的照片或插圖。

本年報使用環保紙印刷。

CHINESE TRANSLATION
The Chinese translation of this Report is available on request from Mongolia Energy 
Corporation Limited. Where the English and the Chinese texts conflict, the English 
text prevails.

All pictures in this Report were taken by MEC. Any unauthorised reproduction, 
disclosure, or distribution of these pictures or artwork in this Report without the 
permission of MEC is strictly prohibited.

This Report was printed on environmentally friendly paper.
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3MONGOLIA ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the annual report for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 (the 
“Financial Year”) and report to you our performance last year.

The global economy remained volatile in 2016. It was gloomed by the “Brexit” referendum, possible changes 
brought about by the US presidential election, as well as the potential rise in interest rates. Stock markets 
reacted variably at different stages, falling generally before these events but soon regaining momentums after the 
outcomes were known. Investments were generally conservative in the changing global conditions.

In our homeland, the economy of China expanded 6.7% last year, which was lower than the 6.9% growth in 2015. It 
was the weakest full-year expansion since 1990 but within the government’s target range of 6.5% to 7%. However, 
China’s first-quarter Gross Domestic Product in 2017 continued to show its growth and hit 6.9%, which is the 
highest level since the fall of 2015. Comparing with the global economic uncertainties, China’s economy has been 
growing steadily though in a slower pace.

Improvement was seen in the steel sector of China. China’s crude steel production in 2016 reached 808.4 million 
tonnes, up by 1.2% compared with 2015. China still ranked first in crude steel production around the globe with a 
share of 49.6% in 2016.

Thanks to the launch of the supply side reform in the coal and steel industries by the Chinese government to 
stabilise the supply and demand imbalance, the coal market experienced a gradual revival in the latter half of last 
year. The results of resolving excessive production were seen in progress. The prices of thermal coal and coking 
coal have rebounded considerably, and most Chinese mines reported improvement in their coal sales, driven 
mainly by the elevated demand of steel producers. As a result of low stocking and increase in demand of coking 
coal, coke and steel producers were restocking coking coal to support their continuing production. Under such 
environment, the coking coal price recorded a recent high.

OUR PERFORMANCE
In the first half of the Financial Year, we continued to operate in a difficult market environment. The coking coal 
market in China has rebounded since the latter half of the Financial Year. Benefiting from the improving market 
conditions, we made good progress last year comparing with that of 2015. 

We continued to practise our policies of stringent control on costs and production in response to the market 
and demands of our customers. Our performance improved generally due to the better market conditions. We 
produced approximately 1,103,400 tonnes of ROM coal during the Financial Year, which was an increase of 90.8 % 
from 578,300 tonnes in the previous financial year. Our sales increased to approximately 389,250 tonnes during 
the Financial Year, comparing with 262,200 tonnes of coal to our customers in the last corresponding period. We 
recorded a HK$204.8 million loss in the Financial Year (HK$553.5 million loss in 2016).
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OUTLOOK
During the Hong Kong Easter holiday this year, we were informed by the Xinjiang Takeshiken customs border that 
our raw coking coal import into Xinjiang via this border had to be suspended temporarily pending the installation 
of certain security devices. Nonetheless, under a temporary arrangement, we were given permission to use an 
alternative customs border for coal import into Xinjiang for two weeks from 16 May 2017. The border security 
system has now been upgraded and the border authority has agreed to lift the import halt. We resumed our coal 
export into Xinjiang by trucks via the Xinjiang Takeshiken customs border on 8 June 2017.

In the international arena, although some of the political issues have become clearer in picture in the first half of 
2017, there is a growing tension on the Korean Peninsula, and the situation in the East Asian region has become 
increasingly complicated. The US interest rates will bound to further rise this year. Capital markets will likely to be 
impacted. Therefore, the global economy is difficult to predict and remains challenging for the rest of 2017.

Since the rolling out of the “One Belt One Road” initiatives by the Chinese government in 2013, it has been 
progressing satisfactorily. The Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank for this project was set up and started 
operation in 2015. By 2016, billions worth of projects have been signed along the Belt and Road countries. The 
Belt and Road is one of the most important projects for China as it connects China with the western world. It is a 
channel to sustain China’s economic growth while developing neighbouring relationships with the Belt and Road 
countries. Enormous infrastructures will be built, nurturing a prosperous market for our products.

The China coking coal market has seen its gradual recovery since 2016. Demand and supply in coking coal has been 
working towards balance. Stabilization of the coking coal prices in China is expected to continue, and prices may 
even moving upwards in the absence of major unpredictable disruptions for the remaining period of 2017.

As the market fundamentals in China have been improved, it is our priority to lower the costs of operation 
and increase sales for gaining our competitive edge. We will ramp up our scale of production to meet market 
demand. We are planning to expand our transportation fleet by purchasing additional trucks for our coal export. 
We will proactively look for new customers to enlarge our customer base. In addition, we will find ways to lower 
our transportation and operation costs, for example, conducting feasibility study for a suitable location in the 
vicinity of our mine for building a washing plant. We will continue to adopt a cautious and flexible approach in our 
developments by closely monitoring the market conditions.
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OVERVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company.

The Group’s principal business is coal mining and exploration which is operated by our indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary in Mongolia, MoEnCo LLC (“MoEnCo”). Our principal project is the Khushuut Coking Coal Project in 
Western Mongolia. We sell coking coal and thermal coal to our customers in the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC” or “China”) and Mongolia respectively.

The Khushuut Coal Mine is located approximately 1,350 km west of Ulaanbaatar in the Khovd Province of Western 
Mongolia. It is about 311 km from the Xinjiang Takeshiken border, connecting by the Khushuut Road built by us.

During the Financial Year, approximately 1,103,400 tonnes of run-of-mine (“ROM”) coal were produced and 
approximately 389,250 tonnes of coal, including coking coal, raw coal and thermal coal, were sold to our customers 
during this period.

RESULTS ANALYSIS
Revenue

The Group’s revenue achieved a twofold increase when compared with the last financial year. The significant 
growth in revenue was mainly due to the increase in both of the selling volume and price. The Group sold 
approximately 359,200 tonnes (2016: 233,200 tonnes) of clean coking coal to end users in Xinjiang, PRC and 
approximately 29,900 tonnes (2016: 29,000 tonnes) of thermal coal to customers in Mongolia. The total revenue was 
HK$321.9 million (2016: HK$156.7 million). The average selling prices of clean coking coal and thermal coal net of 
sales tax were HK$888.1 (2016: HK$657.5) and HK$95.7 per tonne (2016: HK$115.1) respectively.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes mining costs, coal processing costs, transportation costs and other relevant operating 
expenses. The cost of sales for the Financial Year was HK$198.5 million (2016: HK$139.7 million). It was divided 
into cash costs of HK$191.0 million (2016: HK$127.6 million) and non-cash costs of HK$7.5 million (2016: HK$12.1 
million).

Gross Profit

The gross profit for the Financial Year was HK$123.4 million (2016: HK$17.0 million) with a gross profit ratio 
of 38.3% (2016: 10.8%). The significant improvement in gross profit ratio was mainly due to the achievement of 
economies of scale in view of the increase in both of the production and sales volume as well as improvement in the 
pricing of coking coal.

Other Income

The increase of other income when compared with the last corresponding year was mainly due to a one-off earning 
from the disposal of scrapped inventory in our Xinjiang washing plant of HK$7.8 million.

Other Gains and Losses

The increase in other gains and losses during the Financial Year when compared with last corresponding year 
was mainly due to the combined net effect of (i) lower fair value gain from investment in listed securities in Hong 
Kong as compared with the last corresponding year; (ii) a one-off early termination cost for a contractor of HK$7.1 
million was provided in 2016. This provision amount was fully settled during the Financial Year; (iii) a recovery of 
deposit in the amount of HK$7.9 million during the Financial Year from a drilling contractor which was previously 
written off; and (iv) net exchange gain of HK$3.9 million (2016: Net exchange loss of HK$0.8 million) due to the 
strengthening of United States dollar against Mongolian Tugrik in the Financial Year.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses included the following major items:

(1) Staff costs of HK$49.9 million (2016: HK$70.6 million). The reduction was mainly due to no share option 
granted during the Financial Year; therefore, no related equity-settled share-based payment was recognised 
(2016: HK$14.1 million);

(2) Legal and professional fees of HK$18.7 million (2016: HK$19.9 million); and

(3) Depreciation and amortisation of HK$8.6 million (2016: HK$12.5 million).

Changes in Fair Value on Derivative Component of Convertible Notes

The convertible notes issued by the Company in 2014 contain debt and conversion option components. In pursuance 
of the Company’s accounting policies, the fair value of the conversion option components of the convertible notes 
shall be re-measured at the end of each reporting period. At the end of the Financial Year, an independent valuer 
was engaged by the Company using binomial valuation model to determine the fair value of the conversion options 
of the convertible notes. A resulting gain on changes in fair value of HK$236.0 million was recognised in the 
Financial Year (2016: HK$647.1 million). Please refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements for the 
major inputs adopted by the binomial valuation model.

Recoverable Amount Assessment on Khushuut Related Assets (“Mine Assets”)

Under the Company’s accounting policies, the Company is required to assess the carrying value of the Mine Assets 
at the end of each reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the Mine Assets as determined by an independent 
valuer is significantly lower than their carrying value, an impairment loss should be recognised. A recoverable 
amount was determined by engaging an independent valuer to prepare a valuation report for the Financial Year. 
Same as previous years, the independent valuer adopted a value-in-use approach to assess the fair value of the 
Mine Assets as at 31 March 2017. The major parameters used in the valuation model for the Financial Year as 
compared to previous year were as follows:

(1) The discount rate was 16.91% (2016: 17.0%);

(2) Estimated current selling price for clean coking coal at around US$128 per tonne (2016: US$83 per tonne); 
and

(3) Estimated production costs and other operating costs were updated based on latest information.

The recoverable amount of the Mine Assets is based on value-in-use, determined by discounting the future cash 
flows generated from the continuing use of the Khushuut Coal Mine. The key assumptions used in the estimation 
of value-in-use include coal prices, operating costs, sales quantity/production volume, growth rate, inflation and 
discount rate. The sharp rebound in the coking coal price during the Financial Year had a substantial positive 
impact on the assessment of the fair value of the Mine Assets as at 31 March 2017. Consequently, the recoverable 
amount of the Mine Assets determined by the independent valuer was higher than their carrying value, impairment 
loss was not required in the Financial Year (2016: Impairment loss of HK$682.9 million).

Finance Costs

The major component in the finance costs was the effective interest expense on convertible notes. Such interest 
charge on the debt component of the convertible notes issued by the Company was calculated at an effective 
interest rate of 19.96% per annum (2016: 19.96%). The ongoing accumulation of interest charge in the debt 
component of the convertible notes accounted for the increase in annual interest expense on these convertible 
notes in the Financial Year.
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MARKET REVIEW
The principal market for our coking coal products is China. We also sell thermal coal for domestic use in Mongolia.

Coking coal, also known as metallurgical coal, is principally used in steel industry. It is a vital ingredient in the steel 
making process. Therefore, coking coal demand is subject to volatility of steel market which is in turn affected by 
the world economy. The steel market performance in China in turn affects our production and planning.

According to the recent data of the World Steel Association, global crude steel production reached 1,628 million 
tonnes for 2016, rising by 0.8% year on year. In respect of China, its crude steel production for 2016 was 808.4 
million tonnes, an increase of 1.2% compared with 2015. The increase was mainly due to strong demand from end 
users boosted by the state planner’s approval of a bunch of infrastructure construction projects such as road, 
railways and bridges. China’s share of world crude steel production increased slightly from 49.4% in 2015 to 49.6% 
in 2016. It remained as the largest steel producer in the world. Global crude steel production including China 
continued the rising trend in recent reporting. In April 2017, China’s crude steel production was 72.8 million tonnes, 
which was an increase of 4.9% compared with that of April 2016.

Over the past few years, China cut down its coal production capacity in order to trim industrial oversupply and curb 
pollution. Such policy forced the closing down of many small mines and drove the prices of coal down. In 2016, over 
65 million tonnes and 290 million tonnes of excess capacities of steel and coal were cut respectively, which far 
exceeded the targets set for the capacity cut. The national coking coal production recorded a year on year decrease 
of 13% while import of coking coal recorded a year on year increase of 23.8%. The curb of demand and supply 
imbalance was gradually seen in progress.

Last year, prices of coking coal rebounded after five years of decline as demand for coking coal had been boosted 
by the country’s rising steel output. Such positive signal was noticeably strong in the latter half of the year with 
the steep increase of the coking coal price. Demand for coking coal was believed to be contributed mainly by 
the mild and stable growth of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and the implementation of coal and steel de-
capacity policy. In 2016, the Fixed Asset Investment (FAI) of China reported a year-on-year increase of 8.3%, in 
particular, FAI in real estate sector and the transportation industry rose by 6.5% and 11.7% respectively. In the 
first four months of 2017, China’s investment in fixed assets rose 8.9% year on year. Such increased investments 
had stimulated the demand for steel products, which indirectly boosted the demand for coking coal. The 
implementation of capacity cut campaign for both steel and coal industries had led to the decrease of domestic 
coking coal supply. It was further fuelled by the capping mining output to 276-day a year which sparked the price 
rally of coking coal.

According to the Chinese Customs data, coal import of China, including thermal and metallurgical coal, in March 
2017 rose by 12.2% year on year and by 25% from February 2017 to 22.1 million tonnes. The coal imports for China 
continued from major supplying countries such as Australia and Russia jumped in April, as the world’s top buyer of 
the commodity rushed to find alternative supplies following its ban on North Korean imports.

Last year, the coking coal production of China was reduced to 433 million tonnes. The National Bureau of Statistics 
of China (the “NBS”) said that the limited supply of coking coal pushed up the price. As a result of limited supply 
of domestic coking coal, the data of the General Administration of Customs revealed that China imported 59.23 
million tonnes of coking coal in 2016, which was an increase of 23.8% compared to 2015. Major importers of coking 
coal included Australia and Mongolia.

Last year, Mongolia’s coal output increased 44.01% from a year ago to 35.19 million tonnes. It exported 23.56 
million tonnes of coking coal to China, which was an increase of 85.87% compared to that of 2015.

The general trend for the entire coal and relating industries reported satisfactory results last year. Most of the 
steel producers reported profits in their last year’s results. According to the data released by the NBS, coal mining 
and washing industry reaped a profit of RMB109.09 billion in 2016, an increase of 223.6% year on year.
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While the World Bank maintains its forecast for China’s economic growth rate for 2017 at 6.5%, according to 
the recent data released by the NBS, the GDP of China achieved 6.9% in the first quarter of 2017. This is a good 
indication that the economy will continue sustainable growth as it is rebalancing from manufacturing to services.

China’s coking coal prices are predicted to be stable in the remaining period of 2017 if no unforeseeable policies or 
events break out.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Coal Sales

During the Financial Year, we sold approximately 359,200 tonnes of clean coking coal (after washing) (2016: 233,200 
tonnes), and 150 tonnes of raw coking coal (without washing) to our customers in Xinjiang, China.

Apart from coking coal, we also supplied approximately 29,900 tonnes of thermal coal to the local community in 
Mongolia and China during the Financial Year (2016: 29,000 tonnes).

Coal Production

During the Financial Year, approximately 1,400,100 bank cubic meters (BCM) of overburden were removed for the 
purpose of exposing the coal seams for the subsequent coal mining works.

Production of ROM coal and thermal coal were approximately 732,200 tonnes and 371,200 tonnes respectively.

Coal Processing

During the Financial Year, approximately 850,500 tonnes of ROM coal were processed by the dry coal processing 
plant, producing approximately 618,800 tonnes of raw coking coal. The average recovery rate was 73%. The raw 
coking coal would then stand for export to Xinjiang for further washing before delivery to our customer. In Xinjiang, 
approximately 425,100 tonnes of raw coking coal were processed by the washing plant, producing approximately 
380,930 tonnes of clean coking coal. The average recovery rate was 89.6%.

Apart from the field work contractors, we hired external coal trucking companies with heavy-duty trucks to provide 
coal transportation services for our coal export. 

Customers and Sales

As the market fundamentals had been improved during the Financial Year, we were working to expand our 
customer base apart from our major customer.

We had entered into a master coal supply contract for 2016 with our major customer in Xinjiang (raw coal without 
processing). The actual sales price and the quantity to be delivered had to be negotiated and mutually agreed 
from time to time, monthly in general, between the parties during this period. Under the said master contract, 
the clearing was based on the actual clean coking coal delivered after washing, and on this basis, we sold 296,800 
tonnes of clean coking coal to this customer during the Financial Year. It accounted for approximately 82% of our 
revenue in the Financial Year. In respect of our other customers, we also negotiated the sales and delivery orders 
shortly before delivery under the then prevailing market price and our quantity of coal available as the market 
conditions were constantly changing.

In March 2017, we concluded a new master coal supply contract with our major customer in Xinjiang. Similar to 
the 2016 contract, the actual sales price and quantity to be delivered have to be negotiated and mutually agreed 
from time to time between the parties during this period. Notwithstanding the signing of the new coal supply 
contract with our major customer, our production and shipment of coal are closely linked to the market and other 
conditions. We will closely monitor the developments and adjust our operation schedule from time to time.

Apart from our major customer for coking coal, we had seven other customers in Xinjiang during the Financial 
Year.
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Licences

During the Financial Year, we had successfully bid for a new exploration licence from the Mongolian government 
for potential development aside from the Khushuut Project. We will conduct exploration on this licence area for 
initial assessment.

Currently, we have maintained nine mining licences, of which eight are for our Khushuut operations, and two 
exploration licences. Please refer to the section headed “EXPLORATION AND MINING CONCESSIONS OF THE 
GROUP” in this report for further details.

Legal and Political Aspects

The new Parliament of Mongolia elected in June 2016, together with its newly appointed Cabinet, have declared 
continuation of the existing policy to support the country’s foreign investors.

The government programme (“Programme”) for the Years of 2016-2020 was approved by the Parliament in 
September 2016. It affirms the favourable conditions, legal stability and protection of their rights and interests to 
be offered to foreign investors. The Programme gives priority to two main strategies, namely the “special policy to 
overcome current economic difficulties” to be realized in 2017-2018 and the “policy to ensure sustainable economic 
development” for the longer term. The major role in both has been given to the country’s mineral sector. Having 
said that, the Government sees the main goal in creating an attractive environment for investment in the geology 
and mining sector, ensuring their sustainable development, and improving competitiveness of Mongolia in the 
international mineral commodity market. A specific provision undertakes to support investment in coal washing, 
processing and coal-to-gas production.

Attempting to improve the application of international agreements and domestic legislation, the Parliament 
made effective a number of amendments and revisions to the existing laws. Thus, the new edition of the Law on 
International Treaties of Mongolia was approved in late 2016 with an aim of making the application of international 
agreements in Mongolia better consistent with the contemporary international practices. In early 2017, the 
Government of Mongolia has taken the initiative to improve the legislative framework for resolving commercial 
disputes by the Mongolian national arbitration that is believed to contribute to a strong and competent arbitration 
practice in the country. The revised Arbitration Law was drafted on the basis of the 1985 UNCITRAL Model Law on 
International Commercial Arbitration with a few variations, and this new edition of the Arbitration Law is now in 
effect. The purpose of the new law is to bring the regulation of the arbitration of disputes in Mongolia in conformity 
with the international standards.

Mongolia’s economic growth slowed to 1% in 2016 as the global commodity prices continued to fall and the 
growth in China was notably slow as well. Mongolia is also experiencing a significant budget deficit and shortage 
of  investment. To cover the government fiscal deficit, facilitate the repayment of the bond dues and boost the 
overall economy, the Government of Mongolia sought a bailout package from the International Monetary Fund 
(“IMF”). The first 3-years tranche of this package in the amount of approximately USD$440 million has been 
negotiated. The Asian Development Bank, World Bank and bilateral partners like Japan and Korea are expected to 
provide up to another US$3 billion in budget and project support, while the People’s Bank of China is expected to 
extend the 15 billion yuan swap line with the Bank of Mongolia for at least another three years.

In return of the loans, the IMF put forward a number of strict requirements and limitations aimed to restore the 
fiscal discipline, economic stability and government debt sustainability. To satisfy the IMF requirements, the 
Government took some measures to introduce new tax and budget revenue collection reforms. This includes:

(i) introduction of the progressive personal income tax of up to 25% instead of the current universal 10%;

(ii) increase of social security premiums from the current 21% to 26%; and

(iii) increase of several other tax rates such as the alcohol and tobacco excise tax, fuel sales tax, tax on the bank 
interest, etc.
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In November 2016, the Parliament approved the Economic Recovery Action Plan which aims to stabilize the capital 
market, improve the local and central government budget and procurement discipline, and facilitate the banking 
transactions, services and more efficient governance of the banking and financial institutions. Important aspect of 
the government efficiency and discipline is its commitment to fight corruption.

Mongolia’s economic recovery has been apparent since late 2016. The National Statistical Office reports the 
country’s positive and strong foreign trade balance and higher-than-planned budget revenues in the first quarter of 
2017. Mongolia exported 8.1 million tons of coal in the first three months of 2017, amounting to US$541.3 million, 
a year-on-year increase of 446 percent.

Last November, the Program Against Corruption was enacted which focuses on improving and strengthening the 
role of the judiciary, effectiveness of law enforcement authorities and the engagements of civil society and the 
private sector. It also attempts to address the problems relating to political party financing, strengthen the capacity 
of relevant authorities to collect, assess and investigate assets and income disclosure of public officials, better 
regulate public procurement processes and strengthen anti-money laundering and stolen asset recovery efforts.

Environmental policies, relevant laws and regulations affecting us

As a responsible corporation, environmental stewardship is one of the pillars of our sustainable business strategy 
to safeguard people and the environment, and to create enduring values for our customers, employees, host 
communities, shareholders, and business and supply chain partners. The Group has adopted an environmental 
policy focusing primarily on, among others, complying with the host-country legislation and regulations; 
establishing management systems and programs relevant to our environmental risks to prevent, reduce or 
mitigate impacts at all stages of our operations; regularly assessing our performance through evaluating our 
business processes and practices and monitoring the surrounding environment in which we operate.

Our business operation is mainly carried out by MoEnCo in Mongolia. MoEnCo has a detailed environmental 
assessment of the Khushuut Mine covering five years environmental management and protection related matters 
in our mine operation, and based on such documentation, the Ministry of Environment of Mongolia will approve an 
annual environmental plan while monitoring the implementation of the previous year’s environmental plan through 
an implementation report submitted by MoEnCo. MoEnCo has an environmental management team responsible 
for implementing the environmental duties and responsibilities of MoEnCo under the directions of its mining 
director and deputy health, safety and environmental manager. The legal department of MoEnCo is responsible for 
recording compliance issues while monitoring timely execution and submission of the environmental reports and 
plans to the relevant Mongolian authorities on an annual basis.

MoEnCo had generally complied with its environmental duties as required by the Mongolian laws and regulations 
during the Financial Year. More details are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

The relevant laws and regulations having significant impact on our operation include Minerals Law and various 
laws on the environmental protection such as Law on Environmental Protection, Law on Environmental Impact 
Assessment, the Mining Prohibition Law (“MPL”), etc. In general, MoEnCo has complied with these laws and 
regulations apart from those discussed above.

Key stakeholders relationship

Engaging with and building relationships with all our stakeholders is the key to sustaining our business. Our 
stakeholders are the individuals, groups or organisations that affect and are affected by our business activities 
and performance. The stakeholders of the Group include our shareholders, employees, customers, contractors, 
the various Mongolian governmental authorities (such as the Ministry of Environment, Green Development and 
Tourism, the Ministry of Mining, the State Specialized Inspection Agency, the Mineral Resources and Petroleum 
Authority of Mongolia and their local governmental agencies), the various Chinese governmental authorities 
(such as the Environmental Protection Bureau, the Safe Production Supervision Administration, the General 
Administration of Customs and their local governmental agencies), and local communities. In general, we maintain 
a good relationship with them.
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Legal disputes with Contractors

The following are the major disputes with our contractors:

With Thiess Mongolia LLC (“Thiess”) (formerly Leighton LLC)

Two writs of summons were taken out by Thiess in 2013 claiming the Company for outstanding contractor fees of 
MNT12.2 billion (approximately HK$57.3 million) and MNT7.7 billion (approximately HK$36.4 million) respectively.

In May 2015, Thiess applied to the Court to amend its Statements of Claim under the two writs according to its 
amended Statements of Claim,

(i) the amount of the first writ claimed has changed from MNT12.2 billion (approximately HK$57.3 million) to 
US$9.04 million (approximately HK$70.1 million); and

(ii) the amount of the second writ claimed has changed from MNT7.7 billion (approximately HK$36.4 million) to 
US$16.6 million (approximately HK$128.8 million).

The mediation between the Company and Thiess was held before a mediator in April 2016, but the parties were 
unable to settle due to divergence of views. The whole mediation process finally reached an impasse.

Subsequently the two actions had been consolidated. Under the consolidated Statement of Claim, Thiess had 
substantially reduced its claim to US$13.5 million (approximately HK$105.6 million) by giving up its alleged service 
fees after October 2012. We filed our consolidated Defence in November 2016. The proceedings are now in the 
documents discovery stage. We will continue to pursue the case to protect our best interests.

With a Xinjiang Contractor

The award was granted in favour of the Xinjiang contractor (SJ) against the Company in respect of a contractual 
dispute between MoEnCo and SJ for approximately RMB16.1 million (approximately HK$19.3 million).

Under the award, while MoEnCo was the party to the contract of dispute, but the Company had been ruled as the 
principal party to the contract and be held mainly responsible for the award payment instead of MoEnCo. The 
Company had made a provision of approximately HK$21.0 million in respect of the claims in the previous financial 
year.

The Company received an order of the Hong Kong Court in April 2016 granting leave to SJ to enforce the award 
against the Company and MoEnCo in Hong Kong. We had settled the judgment debts with SJ in January 2017.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the Financial Year, the cash shortfall from the operating activities was mainly covered by the short term 
loans granted by Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon (“Mr. Lo”) as well as the proceeds from placement of new shares and 
exercise of share options of the Company. The borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2017 mainly comprised 
convertible notes and advances from Mr. Lo in aggregate of HK$4,375.1 million (2016: HK$3,970.7 million). The 
convertible notes are non-current liabilities and the maturity date is 21 November 2019. The advances from Mr. Lo 
are current liabilities. As at 31 March 2017, the cash and bank balances of the Group were HK$14.2 million (2016: 
HK$19.2 million) and the liquidity ratio was 0.23 (2016: 0.13). The Group had net current liabilities of approximately 
HK$1,444.6 million (2016: HK$1,442.6 million). Mr. Lo commits to offer his financial support to the Group during 
and after the Financial Year. Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group will be able to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future.

Trade and Bill Receivables

The increase in sales volume during the Financial Year accounted for the sharp increase in trade and bill 
receivables balances as at 31 March 2017. The majority of the trade and bills receivable are not overdue. Therefore, 
provision for bad and doubtful debts was considered unnecessary by the management of the Group.

Investment in Listed Securities

The increase in carrying value of the investment in listed securities was arising from the unrealised fair value gain 
of HK$38.9 million (2016: HK$49.5 million).

Charge on Group’s Assets

There was no charge on the Group’s assets as at 31 March 2017. (2016: Nil)

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2017, the gearing ratio of the Group was 6.2 (2016: 7.9) which was calculated based on the Group’s 
total borrowings to total assets.

Foreign Exchange

The Group mainly operates in Mongolia, Hong Kong and Mainland China. The Group’s assets and liabilities are 
principally denominated in Mongolian Tugrik, Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and United States dollar. The Group 
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management will monitor foreign exchange 
exposure and consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Contingent Liabilities

The details of the Group’s material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2017 are disclosed in Note 34 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Tenancy Agreement

We entered into an office tenancy agreement on 8 May 2017. The subject premises have been used as the principal 
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong since 2015.

The term of the tenancy is for two years commencing from 8 May 2017 and expiring on 7 May 2019 at a monthly 
rental of HK$339,800 (exclusive of rates, government rent, management fees and all other outgoings).

The Landlord is an investment holding company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lo, the Chairman and 
executive Director of the Company. As Mr. Lo is a connected person of the Company, the tenancy agreement 
constituted a continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RISK FACTORS
The Group’s business may from time to time face with certain risk factors; some of them may not be anticipated by 
or known to the Group. These factors include, among others, the following:

Cyclical nature of coal markets and fluctuations in coal prices

The revenue of our operation depends on successful commercial production of coal products in our concession 
areas. Therefore, our future business and results of operations are dependent on the supply and demand of coal 
globally, in particular, the PRC.

The fluctuation in supply and demand of coal can be caused by numerous factors beyond the Group’s control, which 
include but not limited to:

(i) global and domestic economic and political conditions and competition from other energy sources; and

(ii) the rate of growth and expansion in industries with high demand for coal, such as steel and power industries.

There is no assurance that the demand of the PRC, which we assume as our major market, for coal and coal related 
products will continue to grow, or that the demand for these products will not experience excess supply.

Development of a mining project may take time and factors affecting its development

In a nutshell, development of a mining project will take time, often through years, and this includes going through 
the process of reconnaissance, exploration, deposit analysis, and mine planning. There is no guarantee that a 
planned development may overcome all challenges encountered during these processes. Ultimate commercial 
viability of a project will depend on whether the deposit is of the desired attributes, proximity to potential markets, 
availability of infrastructure and transportation networks, labour costs and availability, competition of other energy 
resources, and global economic conditions. Government regulations and policies such as taxes and royalties may 
also have a direct or indirect impact on encouraging or discouraging investment in the mining sector.
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Not all planned projects may achieve the intended economic benefits or demonstrate commercial 
feasibility

In the course of development of a project, the Group may change its planning from time to time due to some 
unforeseeable circumstances. When this happens, the outcome, prospect, or financial position may be significantly 
affected.

Significant and continuous capital investment

Mining business requires significant and continuous capital investment. Planned mine exploration and coal 
production projects may not be completed as planned, may exceed the original budgets and may not achieve the 
intended economic results or commercial viability.

Actual capital expenditures for the projects may also differ from planned in the course of development. Such 
factors include locality and geology of the mine sites, method of excavation, availability of transportation networks, 
the ancillary infrastructure requirements and distance to the markets, etc.

Policies and regulations

Mining business is subject to extensive governmental regulations, policies, and controls. There can be no 
assurance that the relevant government will not change such laws and regulations, or impose additional or more 
stringent requirements. Failure to comply with the relevant laws and regulations in any mine development and coal 
production projects may adversely affect the Group. Some of the relevant laws and regulations in Mongolia are as 
follows:

Minerals Law
Under the Minerals Law, mineral exploration licences are granted for an initial period of three years. Holders may 
apply for an extension of the licences for three successive additional periods of three-year each, making twelve 
years in total. Renewal of licences must be made timely and subject to payment of annual licence fee. The Minerals 
Law also states that the licence holders are obligated to meet a minimum exploration expenditure requirement. 
Failure to meet these requirements may subject to licence cancellation by the Mongolian authorities. The mining 
licence for coal is granted for an initial term of thirty years with an option for two further extensions of twenty-year 
each, making seventy years in total. The Mongolian authorities may also impose moratorium on any licences if the 
holders are in breach of any relevant laws in Mongolia.

Mining Prohibition Law
On 16 July 2009, the Parliament of Mongolia enacted the MPL which prohibits minerals exploration and mining 
in areas such as headwaters of rivers and lakes, forest areas and areas adjacent to rivers and lakes. Since its 
enactment, it has been subject to much controversy and many changes and clarification have brought about on its 
application and implementation. At present, all our licences in the Khushuut Coal Mine are not the subject under 
the MPL. However, there is no guarantee that our licences will not be affected in the future when there is a change 
on the relevant law.

Strategic Deposits
The Minerals Law states that a mineral deposit is of strategic importance if a deposit may have a potential impact 
on national security, economic, and/or social development of the country at regional and/or national levels, or that 
is capable of producing greater than 5% of the gross domestic product of any given year.

If a mine is ruled as a Strategic Deposit, the Mongolian government could participate the interest in it. Under the 
said Minerals Law, the size of the government participation is determined largely by the level of state funding which 
had been provided for the exploration and development of any deposit. The government of Mongolia is entitled 
to participate up to 50% in the event that there has been a state funding of such deposit, and up to 34% if such 
deposit was discovered with private funds. In the event a Strategic Deposit is ruled, the Mongolian government 
will negotiate with the entity concerned as to the mode or percentage of the government’s participation and it will 
depend on the results of individual negotiations.
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In order to boost the confidence of the investors, amendments have been made to the Minerals Law relating to 
Strategic Deposit in 2015. The amendments provide an option for the Mongolian government either to take an equity 
interest in such deposits or to impose a special royalty in lieu of such interest. The exact amount of royalty to be 
levied will vary depending on the specifics of the deposits, but the maximum is 5% in addition to other royalties 
payable under the Minerals Law and supplementary legislation.

The Khushuut Coal Mine is not within the list of Strategic Deposits. However, there is no assurance that our Mine 
will not be considered for Strategic Deposit in the future.

Licence risk

The Minerals Law lists the following grounds for an immediate revocation of mineral licences:

(i) the licence holder is no longer in existence;

(ii) failure to timely and fully pay the licence fees;

(iii) the exploration or mining area has been designated as a special needs territory, or an exploration or mining 
activities have been prohibited in the licensed area by law and the licence holder has been fully compensated;

(iv) exploration expenditures of a given year are lower than the minimum exploration expenditure requirements 
set by the Minerals Law; or

(v) the state central administrative agency in charge of the environment (currently Ministry of Environment, 
Green Development and Tourism of Mongolia) has decided based on a report of the local administrative 
bodies that the licence holder has failed to fulfill its environmental reclamation obligations.

Further, a licence may be suspended if the licence holder fails to comply with other requirements of the Minerals 
Law and/or other relevant laws and regulations for up to three months in accordance with the Licensing Act, during 
which the licence holder is required to remedy such breach. If the licence holder fails to cure such breach, the 
licence can then be revoked.

Country risk

The business of the Group is currently in Mongolia with the target market in the PRC. There can be a risk relating 
to the likelihood that changes in the business environment will occur which reduces the profitability of doing 
business in Mongolia and/or the PRC. Changes of political and economic conditions in either Mongolia or the PRC 
may adversely affect the Group.

There is no assurance that the Group’s assets or business will not be subject to nationalization, requisition or 
confiscation due to change of laws or political conditions.

Environmental protection policies

Mining and exploration business is subject to the Mongolian environmental protection laws and regulations. Under 
Article 66 of the Minerals Law, if a licence holder violates environmental protection legislation, the entity holding 
the licence may be fined or its activities suspended until it has complied with environmental and other regulations. 
In the worst case scenario, a licence may be revoked for non-compliance pursuant to Article 56 of the Minerals 
Law.

If the Group fails to comply with existing or future environmental laws and regulations, the Group may be required 
to take remedial measures, which could have a materially adverse effect on its business, financial conditions, and 
results of operations.
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Operational risks

We require various contractors for the mining operations of our Khushuut Coking Coal Project. If there is any 
unforeseeable event which renders these contractors unable to continue providing their services and no effective 
solution is implemented, our operation may be seriously impacted. Our operation is also dependent on the fuel 
supply condition in Mongolia.

We ship our coal out of Mongolia via the Khushuut Road which is approximately 312 kilometres connecting our 
mine site to the Xinjiang customs border. If any part of the road is damaged and is not properly repaired, our coal 
transportation may bring to a halt. The Yarant Border in Mongolia and the Takeshiken Border in Xinjiang are the 
only borders for our raw coking coal export. As our coking coal customers are in Xinjiang, China, if there is any 
export or import restrictions imposed by either border and no alternative customs border is allowed for our coal 
export purpose, we are unable to sell coking coal to our customers in Xinjiang.

Political stability

The Parliament of Mongolia is the highest organ of State Power and the legislative power is vested solely in the 
Parliament. As a supreme government organ, the Parliament is empowered to enact and amend laws, ratify 
international agreements, and declare a state emergency. Specifically, the Parliament may consider on its initiative 
any issue pertaining to domestic and foreign policies of the State, and retains within its exclusive power, including 
but not limited to:

(i) enact new laws and make amendments to the laws;

(ii) define the State financial, credit, tax and monetary policies;

(iii) lay down guidelines for the country’s economic and social development;

(iv) approve the government’s program of action, the state budget and the report on its execution; and

(v) supervise the implementation of laws and other decisions of the Parliament.

The Parliament meets semi-annually. The Parliament members elect a chairman and a vice chairman who each 
serves a four-year term. The Parliament members are elected by district for a four-year term.

The Mongolian Parliament used to adopt a policy to welcome international investors to invest and develop its 
mining sector, and have favourable policies on mining developers. However, there is no guarantee that the 
Parliament will not change its existing policies or adopt a more conservative or restrictive policy on the mining 
sector in future.
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EXPLORATION AND MINING CONCESSIONS OF THE GROUP
The information of the Group’s exploration and mining concession areas in Western Mongolia during the Financial 
Year is as follows:

Licence Location
Licence Area 
(approximate) Date of issuance

Licence valid
period#

Development status/
Remarks

(licence no.) (hectare)∆

      

Khushuut coal project
      

1414A
1640A
4322A
6525A
11887A
11888A
15289A
20299A

Khovd, 
Western Mongolia

1,885 30 December 1998
25 May 1999
23 April 2002
7 November 2003
14 August 2006
14 August 2006
23 November 2009
14 August 2006

70 years for Mining 
Licences (A)▲▲

Approximate 141 
million tonnes of 
in-place resources 
according to JORC 
standards are 
reported*

      

Exploration Project
      

20745X Gobi Altay, 
Western Mongolia

10,884 22 February 2017 12 years for 
Exploration 
Licence (X)▲

A new exploration 
licence: To conduct 
exploration

      

Others
      

2913A Olon Bulag, 
Western Mongolia

38 26 January 2001 70 years for Mining 
Licence (A)▲▲

      

14349X☆ Bayan-Ulgii, 
Western Mongolia

2,983 24 October 2008 12 years for 
Exploration 
Licence (X)▲

To seek potential 
buyer

      

Total Hectares 15,790
      

∆ 1 hectare = 10,000 square metres

# the exploration licences are for three years with three further extensions of three years. The mining licences are for thirty 
years with two further extensions of twenty-year each.

▲ (X) stands for exploration licence

▲▲ (A) stands for mining licence 

☆	 partial overlapping with the watershed protection area because the licence area is located near forest edge and there is a 
small river territory running through the area.

* The resource estimation of the Khushuut Coal Mine is based on “reasonable prospects for eventual economic 
extraction”by using the following parameters:

(a) Open-pit mining method;

(b) Maximum mining depth of 400 meters;

(c) Raw coal density as determined from the analytical data. The average density for the B and C seams is 1.45;

(d) Minimum mineable seam height of 1.5 meters; and

(e) Coal estimates are on raw coal basis, which include all coal and partings less than 0.1 meter, non-coal parting 
measuring of 0.3 meter or less are mined with coal.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices to protect 
and enhance the benefits of the shareholders. The Board and the management of the Company have collective 
responsibilities to maintain the interest of the shareholders and the sustainable development of the Group. The 
Board also believes that good corporate governance practices can facilitate growth of a company under a healthy 
governance structure and strengthen the confidence of the shareholders and investors.

During the Financial Year, the Company had applied the principles of and complied with the code provisions of 
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), save for the following deviations:

i. Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific 
term and subject to re-election.

None of the existing non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term which constitutes a deviation 
from the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code. However, they are subject to retirement by rotation in 
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. Therefore, the Company considers that sufficient measures 
have been taken to ensure the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those of 
the CG Code.

ii. Code provisions A.5.1 to A.5.4 of the CG Code require a nomination committee to be set up, chaired by the 
chairman of the board or an independent non-executive director to review the structure, size and composition 
of the board at least annually to complement the issuer’s corporate strategy.

The Company has not set up a nomination committee as required. The Board considers that it should be 
the responsibility of the full Board to collectively review, deliberate on and approve the structure, size and 
composition of the Board and appointment of the Directors. The Board has already set out the criteria 
for selection of a Director under its internal policy. According to the Bye-laws of the Company, any newly 
appointed Directors are required to offer themselves for re-election at the next general meeting. In addition, 
the shareholders’ right to nominate a director candidate and participation in the re-election of Director by 
way of poll voting at the annual general meeting (“AGM”) can further ensure a right candidate to be selected 
to serve the Board.

iii. Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the board should attend the AGM.

Due to another business engagement, the Chairman was unable to attend the 2016 AGM. The Managing 
Director of the Company took the chair of the 2016 AGM and answered questions raised by the shareholders. 
The AGM provides a channel for communication between the Board and the shareholders. Chairman of the 
Audit and Remuneration Committees of the Company was also present to answer shareholders’ questions 
at the 2016 AGM. Other than the AGM, the shareholders may communicate with the Company through the 
contact methods listed on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted its own Code for Securities Transactions by Directors (the “Code”), which are on 
terms no less exacting than those set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Code is sent to each Director on his/her initial 
appointment and from time to time when the same is amended or restated.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the Model Code (the 
“Employees’ Guidelines”) for securities transactions by relevant employees of the Group who are likely to be in 
possession of unpublished inside information of the Company. To date, no incident of non-compliance with the 
Employees’ Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

To enhance corporate governance transparency, the Code and the Employees’ Guidelines have been published on 
the Company’s website at www.mongolia-energy.com.

During the period of sixty days immediately preceding and including the publication date of the annual results or, 
if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant financial year up to and including the publication date of the 
annual results, all the Directors and relevant employees are restricted to deal in the securities and derivatives of 
the Company until such results have been published.

During the period of thirty days immediately preceding and including the publication date of the half year results, 
the period from the end of the relevant half year period up to and including the publication date of the half year 
results, all the Directors and relevant employees are restricted to deal in the securities and derivatives of the 
Company until such results have been published.

The Company Secretary and the Legal and Compliance Department will send reminders prior to the 
commencement of such period to all the Directors and relevant employees respectively.

It is stipulated under the Code and/or the Employees’ Guidelines that all dealings of the Company’s securities must 
be conducted in accordance with the provisions stated therein. Under the Code, the Directors are required to notify 
the Chairman and receive a dated written acknowledgement before dealing in the securities and derivatives of the 
Company, and in the case of the Chairman himself, he must notify the designated Director and receive a dated 
written acknowledgement before any dealings.

Having made specific enquiry by the Company, all the Directors have confirmed in writing that they had complied 
with the required standards set out in the Model Code and the Code throughout the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE
Good corporate governance and enterprise-wide risk management are essential for every business. The Company 
is convinced that corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance (the “D&O Insurance”) 
complement each other. The Company has arranged appropriate D&O Insurance for the Directors and officers 
of the Group for indemnifying their liabilities arising from corporate activities. The D&O Insurance coverage is 
reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven members, including two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors 
and three independent non-executive Directors, overseeing the overall business operation of the Company. 
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 34 to 35.

Our Board possesses a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the running of the Company’s business. 
They come from different streams of professions with diversified expertise including management, finance, legal 
and accounting.

The Board members during the Financial Year and up to the date of this Report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon (Chairman)
Ms. Yvette Ong (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald
Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei (appointed on 21 October 2016)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP

Mr. Peter Pun OBE, JP (deceased and ceased to be a Director on 6 September 2016)
Mr. Lau Wai Piu
Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank (appointed on 21 October 2016)

The Board will consider the following attributes or qualifications in evaluating membership in the Board:

– management and leadership experience;

– skills and diverse background;

– integrity and professionalism; and

– independency.

The Company has adopted an internal policy (the “Policy”) setting out an approach to achieve diversity on the 
Board. The Policy provides that the Company should ensure its Board members possess a balance of skills, 
experience and diversity of perspectives that are appropriate for the running of the Company’s business.

The Board will review its composition regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience 
appropriate to the business and development of the Company. The shareholders may propose a candidate for 
election as a director and the procedures have been published on the website of the Company.
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During the Financial Year, the Board met the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the 
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive 
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management 
expertise.

All the independent non-executive Directors are financially independent from the Company and any of its 
subsidiaries. The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence from each independent non-
executive Director pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Potential new Directors are identified and considered for appointment by the Board. A Director appointed by the 
Board is subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after his or her appointment, and 
all executive and non-executive Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders every three years.

Potential new Board members are identified on the basis of skills and experience which, in the opinion of the 
Directors, will enable them to make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating strategic business development, reviewing and monitoring the 
business performance of the Group, as well as preparing and approving the financial statements. The Board 
is also responsible for developing and reviewing the Company’s policies on corporate governance and making 
recommendations. The Board as a whole and the management of the Company shall ensure good corporate 
governance practices and procedures are followed.

The Directors, collectively and individually, are aware of their responsibilities to the shareholders, for the manner 
in which the affairs of the Company are managed and operated. In the appropriate circumstances as and when 
necessary, the Directors can seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense for ensuring that the 
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

The Board may delegate the management powers to the management of the Company. However, the delegation of 
power does not absolve the Directors from their responsibilities of exercising requisite skill, care and diligence in 
overseeing the performance of the Company. The Board can meet the management of the Company from time to 
time to discuss the operating issues of the Group. The Company has also issued formal appointment letters to all 
the Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their respective appointments.

In order to enable the Directors to discharge their duties effectively, each Director has separate and independent 
access to members of the management to make enquiries or obtain necessary information. They may also 
seek advices and services from external experts and consultants at the Company’s expense for the purpose of 
facilitating them to make an informed decision.



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

26 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

All the non-executive Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are not involved in daily 
management. The non-executive Directors assist the Board in determining overall policies of the Company and 
contributing to the decision making of the Board. They also give independent views on the deliberations of the 
Board and ensure high standards of corporate governance and financial probity.

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties:

i. to develop and review the Company’s policies on corporate governance and make recommendations;

ii. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior 
management;

iii. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

iv. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of employees and the Directors; and

v. to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Financial Year, the Board:

i. reviewed the performance of the Group and formulated business strategies of the Group;

ii. reviewed and approved the annual and interim results of the Group;

iii. reviewed the internal controls of the Group;

iv. reviewed the corporate governance procedures;

v. reviewed and approved the general mandates to issue shares of the Company;

vi. reviewed and approved the price-sensitive transactions of the Company;

vii. reviewed and approved the connected transactions of the Company; and

viii. reviewed and approved the auditor’s remuneration and recommended the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte 
Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor of the Group respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Company, apart from the father and son relationship between Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon 
(“Mr. Lo”) and Mr. Lo,Rex Cze Kei, there is no financial, business and family relationship among our Directors. All 
of them are free to exercise their independent judgments.

The Directors are aware of their commitments to the Company for contributing sufficient time and attentions to the 
management of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
During the Financial Year, the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director were Mr. Lo and Ms. Yvette Ong 
respectively.

The Chairman’s responsibilities are to provide leadership to the Board and formulate the Group’s business 
strategies. The Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Board works effectively, in particular, all 
the Directors receive reliable, adequate and complete information in a timely manner. The Chairman may 
communicate with the Directors directly or through the assistance of the Company Secretary to discuss or clarify 
any issues concerning the Group from time to time, and to provide any supporting information and documents to 
them.

The Chairman assumes the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and 
procedures are established.

The Managing Director is responsible for the conduct of day-to-day operation of the Company and accountable to 
the Board for all aspects of the corporate performance. She recommends policies to the Board for consideration 
and approval, and keeps the Board informed of any material developments of the Company’s business. The 
Managing Director may delegate her duties to any other management members or responsible officers of the 
Company but she assumes the principal responsibility.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
None of the existing non-executive Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, is appointed for 
a specific term.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has served the Company as the Company Secretary 
since July 2004. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the appointment of the 
Company Secretary shall be determined by the Board. The Company Secretary shall attend all meetings of the 
shareholders and the Directors and shall keep correct minutes of such meetings and enter the same in the proper 
books provided for the purpose. During the Financial Year, the Company Secretary had taken no less than fifteen 
hours of relevant professional trainings under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee, with specific terms of reference 
relating to their authorities and duties, which strengthen the Board’s functions and enhance its expertise.

Each Committee makes decisions on matters within its terms of reference and applicable limits of authority. The 
terms of reference as well as the structure and membership of each Committee will be reviewed from time to time.



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

28 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Wai Piu,  
Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP and Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank, of whom Mr. Lau Wai Piu is the chairman. The 
Company has also appointed an external consultant to review and compare the level of compensation paid to the 
Directors and senior management with the prevailing market rates and give recommendation.

The main responsibi l i t ies of the Remunerat ion Committee include, but are not l imited to, making 
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of all the Directors and 
senior management, reviewing and approving the special remuneration packages of all the executive Directors 
with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time, and determining, with 
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of the individual executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which was revised and adopted in March 2012 are in line 
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Details of the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee can 
be viewed on both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

During the Financial year, the Remuneration Committee:

(i) reviewed and made recommendations on the remuneration policies; and

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior management.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Wai Piu, Mr. Tsui Hing 
Chuen, William JP and Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank. Mr. Lau Wai Piu is appointed as the chairman and has appropriate 
professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management experience.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, reviewing the Company’s current 
financial standing, considering the nature and scope of audit reports, and ensuring internal control and risk 
management systems operate in accordance with applicable standards and conventions.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee which was revised and adopted in March 2012 are in line with the 
requirements of the Listing Rules. Details of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee can be viewed on both 
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Financial Year, the Audit Committee:

(i) reviewed the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 and for the six months ended 30 
September 2016;

(ii) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems;

(iii) reviewed the independent auditor’s report; and

(iv) reviewed the Company’s continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2017 pursuant to the 
Listing Rules.

During the Financial Year, the Chief Financial Officer attended both of the Audit Committee meetings to present 
the financial results of the Group to the Committee members. He also oversaw the financial reporting procedures 
and ensured that the financial reporting and other accounting-related issues were complied with the statutory 
requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of 
the Company held during the Financial Year is set out below:

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

Continuous
Professional
Development

Directors Board
Remuneration

Committee
Audit

Committee

Annual
General
Meeting

Type of
Training

(Notes)

      

Mr. Lo 4/4 N/A N/A 0/1 B
Ms. Yvette Ong 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 B
Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald 4/4 N/A N/A 0/1 A, B
Mr. Peter Pun OBE, JP 

(deceased and ceased to be a Director on  
6 September 2016)

0/1 0/1 0/1 0/1 N/A

Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei 2/2 N/A N/A N/A B
Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP 4/4 1/1 2/2 0/1 A, B
Mr. Lau Wai Piu 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1 B
Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank 2/2 N/A 1/1 N/A A, B

      

Notes:

A: attending seminars and/or conference and/or forums or giving talks at seminars

B: reading materials relating to the Group, general business or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc.

For every Board and Board Committee meeting, each Director is required to declare whether he/she has any 
conflict of interests in the matters to be considered. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of 
interest which is considered by the Board as material, the matters should be dealt with by a physical Board meeting 
rather than a written resolution.

Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman had held a meeting with the non-executive Directors, 
including the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the other executive Director.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

All the Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills in their roles as directors pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code. Attendance to 
any professional courses recognised by registered professional bodies such as The Law Society of Hong Kong, The 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries etc., are 
recognised by the Company for this purpose. The Directors will also be provided with materials from time to time 
to keep abreast of the latest legal and regulatory changes to enable them to effectively discharge their duties.

During the Financial Year, all the Directors had participated in appropriate continuous professional development 
activities by ways of attending training and/or reading material relevant to the Company’s businesses or to the 
Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was re-appointed as independent auditor of the Company (the 
“Independent Auditor”) at the 2016 AGM. It is the Independent Auditor’s responsibilities to form an independent 
opinion, based on its audit, on those financial statements and to report their opinion solely to the Company, as a 
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purposes. Deloitte does not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of the Independent Auditor’s 
Report.

The statement of the Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set 
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 45 to 49.

During the year under review, the professional fee paid/payable to the Independent Auditor is set out as follows:

Services Fee Paid/Payable
HK$’000

  

Audit services 3,480
Non-audit services 977

  

4,457
  

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements and ensuring that the 
preparation of the accounts is in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the Independent Auditor of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities for the 
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 49.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Group has provided its major operations and updates and financial information on a monthly basis to enable 
the Directors to assess its performance in regular intervals.

The Board understands its responsibility under the Listing Rules and other applicable regulations to make a 
prompt assessment and disclose updated developments and inside information regarding the Group to the 
shareholders and investing public in a timely manner. During the Financial Year, the Company had issued five 
inside information announcements for updating the business progress and developments of the Group.

Apart from these, the Company’s website (www.mongolia-energy.com) also provides comprehensive and 
accessible news and information of the Company. Contact details of the Company are posted on the website in 
order to enable the shareholders and other stakeholders to make enquiries in respect of the Group.

The latest and previous annual reports, interim reports, announcements, business operations, corporate 
governance practices and other information of the Company are available on the Company’s website. To ensure 
effective and timely dissemination of information at all times, the Company updates the website contents on a 
regular basis to keep the shareholders and public informed of the business developments of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control so as to maintain sound and effective risk 
management and internal control to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the assets of the Group.

The Board has established an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 
by the Group. This process includes continuous updating of the risk management and internal control systems of 
the Group in response to the changing business environment and regulatory requirements.

The Board also conducts reviews of the risk management and internal control of the Group to ensure that 
the policies and procedures in place are adequate. The Board assesses the effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems which covers all material controls, including financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk management functions.

During the Financial Year, the Group engaged a professional accounting firm to be its internal auditor (the 
“Internal Auditor”) and to report directly to the Audit Committee. The Internal Auditor adopts a risk-based 
approach and independently review and test the controls over various selected operations and activities and 
evaluates their adequacy, effectiveness and compliance on an annual or ad hoc basis. Audit findings and 
recommendations are reported to the Audit Committee. In addition, progress on audit recommendations 
implementation will be followed up on a regular basis and discussed with the Audit Committee. During annual 
review, the Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the 
Group, accounting and financial reporting function and their training programs and budgets. Based on the results 
of evaluations and representations made by the Internal Auditor and the independent auditor for the Financial Year, 
the Audit Committee was satisfied that there was an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group that would threaten the achievement of its business objectives; and an 
appropriate, effective and adequate system of internal control and enterprise risk management had been in place 
in during the Financial Year.

To enhance the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control, the Director of Legal and Compliance 
will assist in risk management and internal control review process to ensure the compliance aspects of the 
Group are met. The Company Secretary will ensure the Board and the Board Committees are provided with timely 
information and sufficient resources to enable them to efficaciously discharge their duties.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Group is committed to enhancing the communication with the shareholders and investors. Updated information 
about the announcements of the Group and the Company is posted on our website (www.mongolia-energy.com) 
in a timely manner. The shareholders can communicate with the Company or the Board through the contact 
information provided on the website and in the general meetings of the Company.

The Company has complied with the Listing Rules regarding the requirements about voting by poll and keeping the 
shareholders informed of the procedures for voting by poll through notices of general meetings in circulars of the 
Company.

During the Financial Year, the Company held one general meeting which was the AGM. The Directors and the 
Independent Auditor of the Company had attended the 2016 AGM to answer the shareholders’ enquiries. In 
addition, separate resolutions for each separate issue had been proposed at the general meeting for voting by the 
shareholders.

The notice of the AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least twenty clear business days prior to the AGM and the 
accompanying circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as required 
under the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same voting rights and entitlement to any dividend 
declared. The rights of our shareholders are set out in, among others, the Bye-laws of the Company and the 
Companies Act.

Convening a General Meeting

The shareholders of the Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the 
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times 
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to request a general meeting to be 
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held 
within two months from the date of the deposit of such requisition.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a 
general meeting, the shareholders concerned may convene the general meeting in the same manner in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act.

The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must be signed by the shareholders concerned. 
The requisition will be verified with the Company’s share registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition 
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to (i) include the resolution in the agenda for 
the AGM; or (ii) convene a special general meeting by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory 
requirements to all the registered shareholders.

On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not being in order, the shareholders concerned will be 
advised of this outcome and accordingly, (i) the proposed resolution will not be included in the agenda for the AGM; 
or (ii) the general meeting will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to the registered shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the 
shareholders concerned at a general meeting varies according to the nature of the proposal. Pursuant to Bye-law 
59(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, an AGM shall be called by a notice of not less than twenty clear business days and 
all other general meeting shall be called by not less than ten clear business days.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company at the date 
of the deposit of the requisition or not less than one hundred shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal 
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a general meeting of the Company.

The requisition must state the proposal together with a statement with respect to the matter referred to in the 
proposal and duly signed by the shareholders concerned. The written requisition must be deposited at the principal 
place of business of the Company for the attention of the Company Secretary, (i) in the case of a requisition 
requiring notice of a resolution not less than six weeks before the meeting, and (ii) in the case of any other 
requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.

The requisition will be verified with the Company’s share registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition 
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to (i) include the resolution in the agenda for 
the AGM; or (ii) convene a special general meeting by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory 
requirements to all the registered shareholders.

On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not being in order, the Shareholders concerned will be 
advised of this outcome and accordingly, (i) the proposed resolution will not be included in the agenda for the AGM; 
or (ii) the general meeting will not be convened as requested.
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Proposing for Election as a Director

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director of the Company for election as a Director at any 
general meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice to that effect at the principal place of business of the Company 
for the attention of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform its shareholders of that proposal, the written notice must state the full name 
of the person proposed for election as a Director, include the person’s biographical details as required by Rule 
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the shareholder concerned and that person indicating his/her 
willingness to be elected. The period for lodgment of such a written notice will commence no earlier than the day 
after the despatch of the notice and end no later than seven days prior to the date of any general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post or by email, together with his/her contact details, such 
as postal address or email, addressed to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set out 
in the section headed “Corporate Information” for the attention of the Company Secretary or by email to us at  
enquiry-hk@mongolia-energy.com.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Financial Year, the Company had not made any changes to its Bye-laws. An up to date version of the 
Company’s Bye-laws is available on the Company’s website as well as the Stock Exchange’s website.
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MR. LO LIN SHING, SIMON
Chairman and Executive Director

Mr. Lo, aged 61, an entrepreneur, is the Chairman of the Company. He has been an executive Director since 
August 1999. Mr. Lo identifies business opportunities for MEC, including the acquisition of the coal mine in 
Western Mongolia, and provides business and strategic directions. He possesses over 30 years of experience in the 
financial, securities and futures industries, including many trans-border transactions. Mr. Lo has been a member 
of Chicago Mercantile Exchange and International Monetary Market (Division of Chicago Mercantile) since 1986. 
He is the father of Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei, a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo is also the chairman and 
executive director of Vision Values Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He formerly served as 
the deputy chairman and executive director of International Entertainment Corporation which is listed on the Stock 
Exchange until his resignation in June 2017.

MS. YVETTE ONG
Managing Director and Executive Director

Ms. Ong, aged 52, has been an executive Director since September 1999 and was appointed as the Managing 
Director on 1 June 2012. She has over 25 years of managerial experience in the Asia-Pacific region. Prior to joining 
the Company, Ms. Ong was a managing director of AT&T EasyLink Services Asia Pacific Ltd. She holds an MBA 
degree in Management Information Systems and Marketing and a Bachelor degree in Finance and Management 
from the University of San Francisco.

MR. TO HIN TSUN, GERALD
Non-executive Director

Mr. To, aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in August 1999 and was re-designated 
as a non-executive Director in October 2000. Mr. To has been a practising solicitor in Hong Kong since 1975. He 
is also qualified as a solicitor in the United Kingdom, as well as an advocate and solicitor in Singapore. Mr. To is 
a non-executive director of NWS Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He formerly served as 
an executive director of International Entertainment Corporation which is listed on the Stock Exchange until his 
resignation in June 2017.

MR. LO, REX CZE KEI
Non-executive Director

Mr. Rex Lo, aged 35, was appointed as a Non-executive Director in October 2016. He has over 8 years of experience 
in property business and general management. Mr. Rex Lo holds a Master of Science in Electronic Commerce and 
Internet Computing and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration. He is the son of Mr. Lo, the Chairman of 
the Company. Mr. Rex Lo is also a non-executive director of Vision Values Holdings Limited which is listed on the 
Stock Exchange.

MR. TSUI HING CHUEN, WILLIAM JP

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Tsui, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in September 2006. Mr. Tsui is the 
founding partner of Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors & Notaries, which was established in 1980. He has been 
a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since 1977, a solicitor of the Supreme Court of England & Wales since 
1981, and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Victoria, Australia since 1983. He has also been an 
advocate and solicitor in Singapore since 1985 and a notary public appointed by the Archbishop of Canterbury, 
England since 1988. Mr. Tsui was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Government of Hong Kong in 1997. 
He was admitted to the Roll of Honour of The Law Society of Hong Kong in 2013. Mr. Tsui is also an independent 
non-executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited and Vision Values Holdings Limited, 
both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He formerly served as an independent non-executive director of 
International Entertainment Corporation which is listed on the Stock Exchange until his resignation in June 2017.
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MR. LAU WAI PIU
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lau, aged 53, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director since September 2004. He 
has over 20 years of extensive experience in accounting and financial management. Mr. Lau is a member of 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants. He is also an independent non-executive director of Haitong International Securities Group Limited 
and Vision Values Holdings Limited, both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lau formerly served as 
an independent non-executive director of International Entertainment Corporation which is listed on the Stock 
Exchange until his resignation in June 2017.

MR. LEE KEE WAI, FRANK
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lee, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in October 2016. He is the Senior 
Partner of Messrs. Vincent T.K. Cheung, Yap & Co., Solicitors and Notaries. Mr. Lee holds a Master of Law from 
University of Cambridge and a Bachelor of Laws from the London School of Economics & Political Science. He is 
a qualified solicitor in the respective jurisdictions of Hong Kong, England and Wales, Singapore and the Australian 
Capital Territory (Australia). Mr. Lee is also a China-Appointed Attesting Officer and a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Arbitrators. He is also an independent non-executive director of Pico Far East Holdings Limited and 
Vision Values Holdings Limited, both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the Financial Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the activities of its principal subsidiaries are metal 
resources exploration, coal operations and other related operations. The activities of the principal subsidiaries are 
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Analyses of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations of the Group for the year ended 31 
March 2017 are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Reviews of the business of the Group during the Financial Year and discussions of the Group’s future business 
development are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 13, and outlook of the 
Chairman’s statement on page 4 respectively.

POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Descriptions of the possible risks and uncertainties that the Group is facing are provided in the Management 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 15 to 18 and in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. The financial risk 
management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Discussions of the environmental policies and performance during the Financial Year are provided in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 12.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Discussions of the compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are 
set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 12.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
In relation to the Company’s key relationships with its stakeholders, discussions of the Company’s policies on 
human resources management, community involvement and contribution in relation to environmental concerns 
and social responsibilities are provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis on page 12.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss on page 50.

No interim dividend was declared (2016: Nil) and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend 
for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 22 August 2017 to Friday, 25 August 2017, both dates 
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for entitlement to attend 
and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the 
Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 21 August 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the Financial Year are set out in Note 31 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

During the Financial Year, the Company entered into a share subscription agreement with a subscriber, Gold China 
Enterprises Limited, an independent third party, for the allotment and issue of 60,000,000 new ordinary shares 
of HK$0.02 each in the principal sum of approximately HK$15.6 million, with the issue price at HK$0.26 per new 
share, representing a discount of approximately 7.1% to the market closing price on the date of the subscription 
agreement. The total number of new shares under the subscription agreement constituted approximately 3.19% of 
the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2017. The proceeds were as general working capital of the 
Group.
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Apart from the above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold, or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities during the Financial Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Financial Year or subsisting at the end of the 
Financial Year are set out below:

Convertible notes

On 21 November 2014, the Company issued convertible notes with principal amounts of HK$3,467,015,000. The 
maturity date of the convertible notes is 21 November 2019. The notes bear interest at 3% per annum and are 
unsecured. It can be converted into 1 ordinary share of the Company of HK$0.02 each for every HK$0.87 (adjusted) 
convertible note amount at the holders option at any time between the issue date and the maturity date. The Group 
will not receive further consideration when the holders determine to convert the notes into ordinary shares of the 
Company prior to the maturity date. The reason for issuance of the convertible notes was to settle the outstanding 
principal amount and interest of the expired convertible notes referred in Note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statement. There was no conversion made under these convertible notes during the Financial Year.

Share Options Scheme

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year is set out in Note 32 to the consolidated 
financial statements and “Share Option Schemes” section contained in this Directors’ Report. For the share options 
exercised during the Financial Year, 34,500,000 shares were issued.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results for the year and of the assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2017 and for the 
last four financial years are set out on page 115.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out on page 54 and in 
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group made charitable and other donations in a total amount of HK$815,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Financial Year are set out in 
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and associated companies of the Group as at 31 March 2017 are set out in 
Notes 41 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The percentages of purchases and sales for the Financial Year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and 
customers are as follows:

Sales
The largest customer 82%
Five largest customers in aggregate 97%

Purchases
The largest purchaser 21%
Five largest purchasers in aggregate 62%
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None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more 
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the Financial Year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report, the board composition and biographical 
details of the Directors of the Group are set out on page 24, and pages 34 to 35 respectively.

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Yvette Ong and Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP 
will retire. Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei and Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank who 
were appointed on 21 October 2016 will also retire. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and 
re-election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Mr. Lo entered into a service contract with the Company on 31 March 2016 for a fixed term of three years with effect 
from 1 April 2016.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors during the Financial Year be proposed for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM has entered into any service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the Group 
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the businesses 
of the Company were entered into or existed during the Financial Year.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Changes in the Directors’ information since the date of 2017 Annual Report of the Company, which is required to be 
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

1. Mr. Lo entered into a director service contract with the Company for a fixed term of three years, commencing 
on 1 April 2016 and expiring on 31 March 2019, with a monthly remuneration at HK$500,000.

2. Mr. Lo ceased to be the deputy chairman and executive director of International Entertainment Corporation 
(Stock code: 1009) on 10 June 2017.

3. Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald ceased to be an executive director of International Entertainment Corporation (Stock 
code: 1009) on 10 June 2017.

4. Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen William JP ceased to be an independent non-executive director of International 
Entertainment Corporation (Stock code: 1009) on 10 June 2017.

5. Mr. Lau Wai Piu ceased to be an independent non-executive director of International Entertainment 
Corporation (Stock code: 1009) on 10 June 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 21 to 33.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
As at 31 March 2017, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the shares and underlying shares of 
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO 
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares Number of underlying shares  

Name of Directors

Personal

interests

Spouse

interests

Corporate

interests

Personal

Interests

pursuant to

share options

Corporate

interests

Total

interests

Percentage of

shareholding
        

Mr. Lo 1,240,000  437,500  301,519,575

(Note 1)

20,750,000 716,853,496

(Note 1)

1,040,800,571 55.32%

Ms. Yvette Ong 272,500 – – 6,250,000 – 6,522,500 0.35%

Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald 1,350,000 – – 3,125,000 – 4,475,000 0.24%

Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP 125,000 – – 3,125,000 – 3,250,000 0.17%

Mr. Lau Wai Piu 50,300 – – 3,125,000 – 3,175,300 0.17%
        

Note:

(1) Golden Infinity Co., Ltd. (“Golden Infinity”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Lo, held the shares and underlying shares 
respectively.

Save as disclosed above and the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES”, as at 31 March 2017, none of the 
Directors, chief executives and their respective associates had any interests in the shares, underlying shares 
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) 
which were required to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/
OTHER PERSONS UNDER THE SFO
The register of interests in shares and short positions maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 
31 March 2017, the Company had been notified of the following interests in shares representing 5% or more of the 
Company’s issued share capital:

Long position of substantial Shareholders/other persons in the shares and/or underlying shares

Number of shares and/or underlying shares 

Name of Shareholders

Beneficial/
Personal
interests

Spouse
interests

Corporate
interests

Total
interests

Percentage of
nominal value

of issued
share capital

       

Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited – – 3,260,224,374 3,260,224,374 (Note 1) 173.30%
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited – – 3,260,224,374 3,260,224,374 (Note 1) 173.30%
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited – – 3,260,224,374 3,260,224,374 (Note 1) 173.30%
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited – – 3,260,224,374 3,260,224,374 (Note 1) 173.30%
Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited 3,260,224,374 – – 3,260,224,374 (Notes 1 & 2) 173.30%
Ms. Ku Ming Mei, Rouisa 437,500 1,040,363,071 – 1,040,800,571 (Note 3) 55.32%
Golden Infinity 1,018,373,071 – – 1,018,373,071 54.13%
Mr. Och Daniel Saul – – 594,483,199 594,483,199 (Note 4) 31.60%
Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC – – 594,483,199 594,483,199 (Note 4) 31.60%
OZ Management LP – – 594,483,199 594,483,199 (Note 4) 31.60%
OZMD IR, LLC – – 395,866,648 395,866,648 (Note 4) 21.04%
Sculptor Finance (MD) Ireland Designated Activity 

Company (formerly known as Sculptor Finance (MD) 
Ireland Limited)

395,866,648 – – 395,866,648 (Note 4) 21.04%

OZAS IR, LLC – – 186,425,739 186,425,739 (Note 4) 9.91%
Sculptor Finance (AS) Ireland Designated Activity 

Company (formerly known as Sculptor Finance (AS) 
Ireland Limited)

186,425,739 – – 186,425,739 (Note 4) 9.91%

Dr. Cheng Kar Shun – 19,775,000 78,892,500 98,667,500 (Note 5) 5.24%
Ms. Ip Mei Hing – 78,892,500 19,775,000 98,667,500 (Note 5) 5.24%
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Notes:

1. Chow Tai Fook (Holdings) Limited held 99.7% interest in Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited. 81.03% interest of Chow Tai 
Fook (Holdings) Limited was held by Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited in which it was held as to 48.98% by Cheng Yu Tung 
Family (Holdings) Limited and as to 46.65% by Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited. By virtue of the SFO, each of 
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited, Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited, Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited, 
Chow Tai Fook (Holdings) Limited, and Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited was deemed to be interested in 3,260,224,374 
shares.

2. Among 3,260,224,374 shares held by Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited, 3,205,224,374 shares were underlying shares.

3. Ms. Ku Ming Mei, Rouisa, the spouse of Mr. Lo, was deemed to be interested in 1,040,363,071 shares owned by Mr. Lo 
beneficially, under the SFO.

4. OZAS IR, LLC (“OZAS”) held 100% interest in Sculptor Finance (AS) Ireland Designated Activity Company and OZMD IR, 
LLC (“OZMD”) held 100% interest in Sculptor Finance (MD) Ireland Designated Activity Company. OZAS and OZMD were 
100% held by OZ Management LP. The entire interest of OZ Management LP was ultimately held by Och-Ziff Capital 
Management Group LLC, in which Mr. Daniel Saul Och was interested in 62.5% of its interest. By virtue of the SFO, each 
of Mr. Daniel Saul Och, Och-Ziff Capital Management Group LLC, and OZ Management LP was deemed to be interested in 
594,483,199 shares.

5. Dr. Cheng Kar Shun was interested in the entire issued share capital of Dragon Noble Group Limited (“Dragon”). By virtue 
of the SFO, he was deemed to be interested in 78,892,500 shares held by Dragon and 19,775,000 shares were owned by Ms. 
Ip Mei Hing (the spouse of Dr. Cheng Kar Shun) through her controlled corporation Brighton Management Limited.

Save as disclosed above and those disclosed under “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS”, the Company had not been notified 
of other interests representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2017.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
During the Financial Year and up to the date of this Report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the 
Directors nor their respective associates was considered to have any interests in the businesses which compete or 
were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, other than those businesses 
where the Directors were appointed as Directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Apart from those disclosed in the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”, no contracts of significance in 
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had 
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any time during the 
Financial Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes operated by the Group are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
During the Financial Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has in force indemnity provision 
as permitted under the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including former Directors) of the 
Company or its associated companies. The permitted indemnity provisions are provided for in the Bye-laws and 
in the directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and costs 
associated with legal proceeding that may be brought against such Directors.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
Under the share option schemes adopted by the Company on 28 August 2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) 
and 30 August 2012 (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”) respectively, options were granted to certain Directors, 
employees and other eligible participants of the Company entitling them to subscribe for shares of HK$0.02 each 
in the capital of the Company.

The 2002 Share Option Scheme was expired on 27 August 2012. The share options under the 2002 Share Option 
Scheme are exercisable at any time for a period to be determined by the Directors, which shall not be more than 
ten years from the date of grant.
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The following is a summary of the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the 2012 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards for the contribution of the 
participants to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit or retain high-calibre employees and attract 
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

2. Participants

The participants of the 2012 Share Option Scheme include any Directors, employees, consultants, agents or 
advisors of the Group or any entities in which the Group hold an interest.

3. Number of shares available for issue

Under the 2012 Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares which may be issued under options to be 
granted is 73,038,695, representing approximately 3.88% of the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 
March 2017.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of 
all outstanding options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in any twelve month period 
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

5. Option period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme at any time during 
the period to be notified by the Directors to the grantee, but in any event such period of time must not be more 
than ten years from the date of grant.

6. Vesting period

The Directors may, if consider appropriate, determine the minimum period for which an option must be held 
before it can be exercised.

7. Amount payable on acceptance of option

Upon acceptance of the offer for an option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant.

8. Exercise price

The subscription price for a share in respect of any option granted shall be a price determined by the 
Directors at their absolute discretion but shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date, (ii) the average closing price of the 
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for five trading days immediately preceding 
the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

9. Remaining life of the Scheme

The 2012 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing from 30 August 
2012.
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Details of the movements in outstanding share options, which had been granted under the 2002 Share Option 
Scheme and 2012 Share Option Scheme, during the Financial Year were as follows:

Number of shares subject to options 

Name or category

of participants

Date of

Grant

Exercise

Price

HK$ Exercise period

Vesting

Period

As at

1 April

2016

Granted

during

the period

Lapsed

during

the period

Exercised

during

the period

As at

31 March

2017
          

Mr. Lo 29-02-2012 3.240 29-02-2012 to 28-02-2017 N/A 1,500,000 – (1,500,000) – –

08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 N/A 3,750,000 – – – 3,750,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 N/A 17,000,000 – – – 17,000,000

Ms. Yvette Ong 08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 N/A 1,250,000 – – – 1,250,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 N/A 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000

Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald 29-02-2012 3.240 29-02-2012 to 28-02-2017 N/A 125,000 – (125,000) – –

08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 N/A 125,000 – – – 125,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 N/A 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, 

William JP

29-02-2012 3.240 29-02-2012 to 28-02-2017 N/A 125,000 – (125,000) – –

08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 N/A 125,000 – – – 125,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 N/A 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

Mr. Lau Wai Piu 29-02-2012 3.240 29-02-2012 to 28-02-2017 N/A 125,000 – (125,000) – –

08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 N/A 125,000 – – – 125,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 N/A 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

Employees and others in 

aggregate (including 

a director of certain 

subsidiaries

29-02-2012 3.240 29-02-2012 to 28-02-2017 N/A 5,750,000 – (5,750,000) – –

08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 05-09-2017 N/A 125,000 – – – 125,000

08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 N/A 5,875,000 – – – 5,875,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 05-09-2017 N/A 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000

09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 N/A 50,500,000 – – (34,500,000) 16,000,000
          

TOTAL 103,500,000 – (7,625,000) (34,500,000) 61,375,000
          

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the Financial Year, the Group had the following connected transactions and certain details of which are 
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transaction
Tenancy Agreement
On 27 April 2015, Mongolia Energy Corporation (HK) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered 
into a new office tenancy agreement as tenant with Cambo Management Limited as the Landlord for a term of two 
years at a monthly rent of HK$308,922 from 8 May 2015 to 7 May 2017 (the “Tenancy Agreement”).

The particulars of the Tenancy Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 April 
2015. The Landlord is an investment holding company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lo, who is a connected 
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. The transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement 
constituted continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which was 
subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but was exempted from the independent 
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independent Non-executive Directors
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the 
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the terms of the respective agreements governing such transactions that are fair and 
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Assurance procedures performed by the Auditor of the Company
Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company engaged its auditor to report on the Group’s continuing 
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance 
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by 
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor had issued an unqualified letter containing 
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions set out as appropriate, in 
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter had been provided to the Stock 
Exchange.
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With regard to the Related Party Transactions as disclosed in Note 35 (other than the Tenancy Agreement 
transactions mentioned above) to the consolidated financial statements, they constitute fully exempt connected 
transactions of the Company, for all of which the applicable requirements under the Listing Rules have been duly 
complied with.

GROUP’S BORROWINGS
Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out in Notes 28 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Wai Piu,  
Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP and Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank. Their principal duties include reviewing and 
supervising the Company’s financial reporting process, internal control procedures and relationship with the 
Independent Auditor.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 had been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee.

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2017, excluding site and construction workers directly employed by our contractors, the Group 
employed 596 full-time employees in Hong Kong, Mongolia, and the PRC. Remuneration packages are structured to 
take into account the level and composition of pay and the general market conditions in the respective geographical 
locations and businesses in which the Group operates. The remuneration policies of the Group are reviewed on a 
periodic basis. Apart from the retirement scheme, staff bonus, and share options are awarded to the employees 
according to performance of the Group, assessment of individual performance, and industry practice. Appropriate 
training programs are also offered for staff training and development.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the Financial Year.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte who will retire and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM of the Company to re-
appoint Deloitte as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lo Lin Shing, Simon
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2017
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MONGOLIA ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 50 to 114, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA’s 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements which indicates that as at 31 March 2017, the 
Group had net liabilities of approximately HK$3,931 million and net current liabilities of approximately HK$1,445 
million. The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the ongoing availability of finance to 
the Group, including from a substantial shareholder who is also the Chairman and Director of the Company. If the 
finance were not available, the Group would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. 
This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related 
to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Recoverable amount assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and prepaid lease payment 
related to the Khushuut mine operations

We identified the recoverable amount assessment of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 
prepaid lease payment related to the Khushuut mine 
operations (collectively referred to as “Khushuut 
Related Assets”) as a key audit matter due to the 
significance of these balances to the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, combined with the 
significant judgments involved in the determination of 
their recoverable amounts.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the carrying value of the Khushuut 
Related Assets, net of accumulated impairment of 
HK$15,470 million, amounted to HK$278 million at 
31 March 2017, representing 61% of the Group’s total 
assets.

Management engaged an independent valuer (the 
“Valuer”) to determine the recoverable amount 
of Khushuut Related Assets. For the purposes of 
impairment testing, the Khushuut Related Assets are 
treated as a cash generating unit and its recoverable 
amount has been determined based on a value in use 
calculation, which requires management to estimate 
the future cash flows expected to arise from the 
cash generating unit, using discounted cash flow 
analysis, in order to calculate the present value. 
Key assumptions used in the calculation include the 
current selling prices of coking coal, growth rate, 
discount rate and estimated timeline for commercial 
coal production.

Our procedures in relation to the Group’s recoverable 
amount assessment of Khushuut Related Assets 
included:

• Understanding management’s impairment 
assessment process;

• Evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the Valuer;

• Engaging our internal expert to assess the 
reasonableness of the valuation by performing 
the following procedures:

– assessing the reasonableness of the 
valuation methodology used to determine 
the recoverable amount;

– assessing the reasonableness of the 
discount rate and coal prices underpinning 
the recoverable amount by benchmarking 
these inputs to market and entity specific 
information; and

– checking the mathematical accuracy 
of the calculation used in the valuation 
model.

• Assessing the appropr iateness of  future 
operating cash flows with reference to the 
past performance of Khushuut Related Assets 
together with management and the Valuer’s 
expectations for the market developments;

• Performing sensitivity analysis on the key 
assumptions adopted in the valuation and 
e v a l u a t i n g  t h e  e x t e n t  o f  i m p a c t  o n  t h e 
recoverable amount; and
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Recoverable amount assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and prepaid lease payment 
related to the Khushuut mine operations (Continued)

Management considered that no impairment nor 
reversal of impairment loss is required in respect of 
Khushuut Related Assets as at 31 March 2017.

• Assessing the disclosures in the consolidated 
f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s  i n  r e s p e c t  o f  t h e 
recoverable amount assessment of Khushuut 
R e l a t e d  A s s e t s  w i t h  r e f e r e n c e  t o  t h e 
requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards.

Recognition of revenue from coal sales

We identified recognition of revenue from coal sales 
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the 
balance to the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole.

The Group’s revenue from coal sales for the year 
ended 31 March 2017 amounted to HK$322 million.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements, revenue from sales of coal is recognised 
when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue 
from coal sales included:

• Understanding management’s process and key 
controls over revenue recognition;

• Checking the accuracy of revenue by agreeing 
the amount to billings issued to customers on a 
sample basis; and

• Evaluating the terms set out in sale agreements 
and inspecting supporting documents, on a sample 
basis, evidencing customer acceptance of contract 
terms, and receipt and acceptance of coal.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of 
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Wong Kuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2017
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 6 321,893 156,701
Cost of sales (198,482) (139,717)    

Gross profit 123,411 16,984
Other income 7 10,607 3,717
Other gains and losses 8 50,939 40,524
Administrative expenses (100,706) (145,396)
Changes in fair value on derivative component  

of convertible notes 28 235,971 647,107
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 3, 15 – (613,317)
Impairment loss on intangible assets 3, 17 – (68,216)
Impairment loss on prepaid lease payment 3, 16 – (1,323)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset 21 (77) (165)
Impairment loss on amount due from associate 20 (8) (8)
Finance costs 9 (524,984) (433,362)    

Loss before taxation 10 (204,847) (553,455)
Income tax expense 11 – –    

Loss for the year (204,847) (553,455)    

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (204,847) (553,455)    

Loss per share attributable to owners of the Company

–	basic and diluted loss per share (HK$) 14 (0.11) (0.32)    
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2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss for the year (204,847) (553,455)
Other comprehensive income

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
– Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2,085 42

   

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company (202,762) (553,413)
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 256,115 258,220
Intangible assets 17 26,473 27,920
Development in progress 18 – –
Exploration and evaluation assets 19 156 –
Interests in associates 20 – –
Available-for-sale financial asset 21 – –
Other asset 1,150 1,150
Prepaid lease payment 16 477 513

    

284,371 287,803
    

Current assets
Prepaid lease payment 16 10 15
Trade and bill receivables 22 159,586 29,711
Inventories 23 62,722 22,802
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 24 34,761 22,329
Held-for-trading investments 25 156,713 117,797
Amounts due from associates 20 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 26 14,197 19,237

    

427,989 211,891
    

Current liabilities
Trade payables 27 102,989 129,204
Other payables and accruals 147,403 140,942
Advances from a Director 35(a) 1,613,067 1,383,023
Other loan 7,755 –
Deferred income 29 1,352 1,345

    

1,872,566 1,654,514
    

Net current liabilities (1,444,577) (1,442,623)
    

Total assets less current liabilities (1,160,206) (1,154,820)
    

Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes 28 2,761,989 2,587,653
Deferred income 29 9,196 10,411

    

2,771,185 2,598,064
    

Net liabilities (3,931,391) (3,752,884)
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2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financed by:
Capital and reserves
Share capital 31 37,625 35,735
Reserves (3,969,016) (3,788,619)

    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (3,931,391) (3,752,884)
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 50 to 114 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 27 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

  

Lo Lin Shing, Simon Yvette Ong
Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Contributed
surplus

Share
options
reserve

Translation
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note 31(a))

        

At 1 April 2015 33,783 – 3,451,893 43,199 (13,569) (6,754,157) (3,238,851)
Loss for the year – – – – – (553,455) (553,455)
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences  

arising on translation – – – – 42 – 42
        

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year – – – – 42 (553,455) (553,413)

        

Issue of ordinary shares for 
settlement of accounts 
payables (Note 31(b)) 1,952 23,350 – – – – 25,302

Equity-settled share-based 
payments (Note 32) – – – 14,078 – – 14,078

Share option lapsed – – – (21,429) – 21,429 –
        

At 31 March 2016 35,735 23,350 3,451,893 35,848 (13,527) (7,286,183) (3,752,884)
Loss for the year – – – – – (204,847) (204,847)
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences  

 arising on translation – – – – 2,085 – 2,085
        

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year – – – – 2,085 (204,847) (202,762)

        

Issue of ordinary shares
Exercise of share options 

(Note 31(c)) 690 13,718 – (5,748) – – 8,660
Placement of new shares 

 (Note 31(d)) 1,200 14,400 – – – – 15,600
Share issue costs – (5) – – – – (5)
Share option lapsed – – – (12,590) – 12,590 –

        

At 31 March 2017 37,625 51,463 3,451,893 17,510 (11,442) (7,478,440) (3,931,391)
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (204,847) (553,455)
Interest income 7 (111) (107)
Exchange loss 293 637
Finance costs 9 524,984 433,362
Early termination cost for a contractor 8 – 7,091
Loss on write off of property, plant and equipment 8 16 801
Loss on write off of development in progress 8 – 3,613
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 (231) (585)
Gain on extinguishment of the financial liabilities 8 – (2,788)
Amortisation of intangible assets 17 1,588 5,914
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment 16 10 41
Amortisation of deferred income 29 (1,322) (1,290)
Depreciation 15 11,930 15,656
Changes in fair value on held-for-trading investments 8 (38,916) (49,508)
Changes in fair value on derivative component of convertible notes 28 (235,971) (647,107)
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 15 – 613,317
Impairment loss on prepaid lease payment 16 – 1,323
Impairment loss on intangible assets 17 – 68,216
Impairment loss on amount due from associate 8 8
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset 21 77 165
Impairment loss on other receivables 177 –
Equity-settled share-based payments 32 – 14,078

    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 57,685 (90,618)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (40,287) 861
Increase in trade and bill receivables (129,875) (21,729)
(Increase) decrease in other receivables, prepayments  

and deposits (16,599) 4,219
(Decrease) increase in trade payables (23,435) 23,086
Increase in other payables and accruals 9,874 34,410

    

Net cash used in operations (142,637) (49,771)
Income tax paid – –

    

Net cash used in operating activities (142,637) (49,771)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 15 (9,809) (32,740)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 233 723
Purchase of intangible assets 17 (141) –
Exploration and evaluation asset addition (156) –
Advance to an associate (8) (8)
Available-for-sale financial asset addition 21 (77) (165)
Bank interest received 111 107
Government grants received 29 790 1,316

    

Net cash used in investing activities (9,057) (30,767)
    

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital 24,260 –
Expenses on issue of share capital (5) –
Advances from a Director 132,433 86,912
Repayment to a Director (16,700) –
New other loan raised 7,389 –

    

Net cash from financing activities 147,377 86,912
    

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,317) 6,374
    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 19,237 13,083
    

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash 
held in foreign currencies (723) (220)

    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14,197 19,237
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1. GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company is a public limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the 
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the principal 
place of business of the Company is 17th Floor, 118 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and its subsidiaries (together with the Company 
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in (i) mining, processing and sale of coal; and 
(ii) other resources related business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”). The functional currency 
of the Company is United States dollar (“US$”) as the US$ better reflects the underlying transactions, 
events and conditions that are relevant to the Group’s ongoing business. For the convenience of the financial 
statements users, the consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, as the Company’s shares are 
listed on the Stock Exchange.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have given 
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group. While recognising that the Group had net liabilities 
of approximately HK$3,931.3 million and had net current liabilities of approximately HK$1,444.6 million at 31 
March 2017 and incurred a loss of approximately HK$204.8 million for the year then ended, the Directors are 
of the opinion that the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable 
future as Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon (“Mr. Lo”), a substantial shareholder who has significant influence over the 
Group and being the Chairman and Director of the Company, has provided facilities amounting to HK$1,900.0 
million with maturity date on 29 March 2019, of which approximately HK$286.9 million was unutilised as at 31 
March 2017 and Mr. Lo does not intend to demand repayment until the Company has sufficient cash to make 
repayment. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”):

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 (Amendments) Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortisation
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 (Amendments) Agriculture: Bearer Plants
HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 

(Amendments)
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

HKFRS 11 (Amendments) Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on 
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKAS 1 (Amendments) “Disclosure Initiative”

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 “Disclosure Initiative” for the first time in the current 
year. The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity need not provide a specific disclosure required 
by an HKFRS if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material, and give guidance on the 
bases of aggregating and disaggregating information for disclosure purposes. However, the amendments 
reiterate that an entity should consider providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific 
requirements in HKFRS is insufficient to enable users of financial statements to understand the impact of 
particular transactions, events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

As regards the structure of the financial statements, the amendments provide examples of systematic 
ordering or grouping of the notes.

The Group has applied these amendments retrospectively. The grouping and ordering of certain notes have 
been revised to give prominence to the areas of the Group’s activities that management considers to be the 
most relevant to an understanding of the Group’s financial performance and financial position. Specifically, 
information to capital risk management was reordered to Note 36 while information to financial instruments 
was reordered to Note 37. Other than the above presentation and disclosure changes, the application of the 
amendments to HKAS 1 has not resulted in any impact on the financial performance or financial position of 
the Group in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards and amendments that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

HKAS 7 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative1

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses1

HKAS 40 (Amendments) Transfers of Investment Property2

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle5

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions2

HKFRS 4 (Amendments) Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts2

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture4

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related 
Amendments2

HKFRS 16 Leases3

HK (IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018, as appropriate
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, financial 
liabilities, general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

• all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently 
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured 
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within 
a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt investments and equity investments 
are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 
9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an 
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend 
income generally recognised in profit or loss.

• in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, 
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement”. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses 
and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 
since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred 
before credit losses are recognised.

The application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have material impacts on the classification and measurement of 
the Group’s financial assets. The Group’s available-for-sale investments, including those currently stated at 
cost less impairment, will either be measured as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or be designated 
as fair value through other comprehensive income (subject to fulfillment of the designation criteria). The 
expected credit loss model may result in early provision losses which are not yet incurred in relation to 
Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable 
estimate of the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group performs a detailed review.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition 
guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related Interpretations 
when it becomes effective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to 
revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. 
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance 
obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The Directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures, 
however, the Directors do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the 
timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting 
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related 
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled 
by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and 
is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all 
leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain 
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the 
lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are 
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as 
the impact of lease modification, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently 
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned 
use while other operating lease payments as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease 
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be 
both presented as financing cash flows by the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and a related finance lease liability for finance 
lease arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee. The 
application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification of these assets depending on 
whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at which the 
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements 
in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance 
lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group as lessee has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of HK$1,689,000 
as disclosed in Note 33. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the 
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases 
upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new requirements may result in changes 
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. However, it is not practicable to provide a 
reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the Directors complete a detailed review.

HKAS 7 (Amendments) “Disclosure Initiative”

The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities including both changes arising from cash flows 
and non-cash changes. Specifically, the amendments require the following changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities to be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining 
or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) 
changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

The amendments apply prospectively to the Group for annual period beginning on 1 April 2017. The 
application of the amendments will result in additional disclosures on the Group’s financing activities, 
specifically reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the consolidated statement of 
financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities will be provided on application.

Other than that, the Directors anticipate that the application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs will 
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

3. RECOVERABLE AMOUNT ASSESSMENT ON KHUSHUUT RELATED ASSETS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group engaged a qualified professional valuer (the “Independent 
Valuer”), who is not connected with the Group, to determine the recoverable amount of its property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets and prepaid lease payment related to the Khushuut mine operations 
(collectively referred to as “Khushuut Related Assets”). For the purposes of recoverable amount assessment 
to assess whether there have been reversal or further impairment, the Khushuut Related Assets are treated 
as a cash-generating unit, which represents the Group’s coking coal mining operation in Western Mongolia. 
The recoverable amount of the Khushuut Related Assets has been determined based on a value-in-use 
calculation.

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Carrying values
HK$’000

  

Property, plant and equipment 250,934
Intangible assets 26,166
Prepaid lease payment 487

  

Total 277,587
  

In pursuant to the recoverable amount assessment, no further impairment or reversal of impairment is 
required in the current year (2016: impairment loss HK$682,856,000) as the recoverable amount of the 
Khushuut Related Assets approximates the carrying value.

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Carrying values 
before impairment Impairment loss

Carrying values 
after impairment

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Property, plant and equipment 857,816 613,317 244,499
Intangible assets 95,409 68,216 27,193
Prepaid lease payment 1,851 1,323 528
    

Total 955,076 682,856 272,220
    

The reasons for such impairment being recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2016 were 
mainly due to (i) a further decline in price of coking coal and the price outlook as compared to that of previous 
financial year ended 31 March 2015; and (ii) the demand of coking coal which is essential for the production 
of steel continued to be low due to the cooling down in infrastructure and real estate investments. This has 
caused an unfavourable coking coal market condition. All these reasons have had significant impact on the 
value-in-use assessment performed by the Directors with a reduction in cash flows expected to be received.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. 
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the 
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange of goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is 
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of 
HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

If the transaction price is fair value at initial recognition and a valuation technique that uses unobservable 
inputs will be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so 
that at initial recognition the result of the valuation technique equals the transaction price. Calibration 
ensures that the valuation technique reflects current market conditions, and it helps the Group to determine 
whether an adjustment to the valuation technique is necessary (e.g. there might be a characteristic of the 
asset or liability that is not captured by the valuation technique). After initial recognition, when measuring 
fair value using a valuation technique or techniques that use unobservable inputs, the Group ensures that 
those valuation techniques reflect observable market data (e.g. the price for a similar asset or liability) at the 
measurement date.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains 
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control 
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for equity 
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the 
associate’s and the joint venture’s accounting policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that 
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment 
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are 
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the 
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, 
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 
acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” are applied to 
determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment 
in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its 
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. 
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that 
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to the extent that the 
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in 
the associate that are not related to the Group.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured 
reliably, revenue is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

Revenue from sale of coal
Revenue from the sale of coal is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income
The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the accounting policy 
below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated 
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an 
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial 
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to 
owners of the Company are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 
government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise 
acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related 
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and other defined contribution 
retirement benefit plans are recognised as expenses when employees have rendered service entitling them 
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be 
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an 
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at 
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will 
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each reporting 
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of 
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense 
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share options reserve. For share 
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed 
immediately to profit or loss.
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Share-based payment arrangements (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Share options granted to employees (Continued)
When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not 
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to 
accumulated losses.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before 
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense that 
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable nor deductible. The Group’s current 
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are 
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including mineral properties held for use in the production or supply of goods 
or services, or for administrative purposes (other than construction in progress as described below), are 
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Other than mining structures and mineral properties, depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost 
of items of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using 
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 
or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss.

Mining structures

Mining structures included deferred stripping costs and mining related property, plant and equipment. In 
open pit mining operations, the removal of overburden and waste materials, referred to as stripping, is 
required to obtain access to the ore body. Stripping costs incurred during the development phase of a mine 
are capitalised as stripping activity asset forming part of the cost of constructing the mining structure. 
Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a surface mine are variable production costs that are 
included in the costs of inventory produced during the period that the stripping costs are incurred, unless the 
stripping activity can be shown to give rise to probably future economic benefits from the mineral structure 
by improving the access to the ore body, the component of the ore body for which assess has been improved 
is identifiable and the costs associated with that component can be reliably measured, in which case the 
stripping costs would be capitalised as stripping activity asset included in property, plant and equipment – 
mining structures.

Mining structures are depreciated on the unit-of-production method utilising only proven and probable 
coal reserves in the depletion base, or based on the useful lives of respective items of property, plant and 
equipment, whichever is appropriate.

Mineral properties

Mineral properties incorporate both the mining rights (intangible) and the underlying mineral reserve 
(tangible) elements. Mineral properties are classified as property, plant and equipment to the extent the 
tangible reserve is the more significant element. Mineral properties comprise costs of acquisition of mining 
rights and capitalised exploration costs which are capitalised initially under exploration and evaluation assets 
and transferred to property, plant and equipment as mineral properties when the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting mineral resources become demonstrable.

On the commencement of commercial production, depreciation of mineral properties will be provided on the 
unit-of-production method utilising only proven and probable coal reserves in the depletion basis.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for production 
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. 
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when 
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property 
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately
Software acquired separately and with finite useful lives is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets (exclusive right of use of paved road) are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following 
the initial recognition, intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation (where the estimated useful life 
is finite) and impairment losses.

Intangible assets (exclusive right of use of paved road)
The exclusive right of use of paved road is amortised on a straight-line basis over its licence period.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Development in progress

Development in progress includes the construction cost of a road of which the Group has a right of use. 
Development in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment losses. Development in progress 
is transferred to intangible assets with finite useful lives when the road construction work is completed and 
the road is ready for its intended use.

Prepaid lease payment

Prepaid lease payment relating to leasehold land is stated at cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost of prepaid lease payment is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the shorter of the relevant lease/land use right or the operation period of the relevant entity.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of mining and exploration rights and the expenditures 
incurred in the search for mineral resources as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extracting those resources. When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extracting mineral resources become demonstrable, previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets 
are reclassified as mining structures and mineral properties under property, plant and equipment. These 
assets are assessed for impairment annually and before reclassification.
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Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is reviewed at least annually and adjusted 
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and whenever one of the following 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (the list is not 
exhaustive):

• the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the period 
or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

• substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific 
area is neither budgeted nor planned;

• exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery 
of commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided to discontinue such 
activities in the specific area; or

• sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, 
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from 
successful development or by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (excluding exploration and evaluation assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is 
an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When allocating an 
impairment loss to individual assets within a cash-generating unit, the carrying amount of an individual asset 
should not be reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable), its value in use 
(if determinable), and zero. If this results in an amount being allocated to an asset which is less than its pro 
rata share of the impairment loss, the excess is allocated to the remaining assets within the cash-generating 
unit on a pro rata basis.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of production and 
purchase, an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead costs, including the stripping costs incurred 
during the production phase, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and the costs necessary to make the sale.

When coal inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in 
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or 
loss occurs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial assets at 
FVTPL, loans and receivables and available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets. The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular 
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near future; or

• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Subsequent to initial recognition, held for trading investments are measured at fair value, with changes in 
fair value arising from remeasurement recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. Fair value is determined in the manner 
described in Note 37(c).

Available-for-sale financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified 
as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each 
reporting period (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and bill 
receivables, other receivables and deposits, amounts due from associates and cash and cash equivalents) 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses 
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of 
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period of 
30-60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default 
on receivables.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in 
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of amounts due from associates, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. When amounts due from associates are considered uncollectible, 
it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is 
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability 
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible note
Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both debt and conversion option components are 
classified separately into respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that will be settled other 
than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s 
own equity instruments is a conversion option derivative. At the date of issue, both the debt and conversion 
option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the debt component of the convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The conversion option derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Transaction costs that related to the issue of the convertible notes are allocated to the debt and derivative 
components in proportion to their fair value. Transaction costs relating to the derivative component are 
charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss. Transaction costs relating to the debt component are 
included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and amortised over the period of the convertible notes 
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables, advances from a Director, other loan and 
debt component of the convertible notes) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

Embedded derivatives
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet 
the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An exchange between the Group and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms shall be 
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the 
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective 
interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the 
original financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or 
a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) shall be accounted for as an 
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The difference 
between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, shall be recognised in profit 
or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments
When the Company issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability, the 
equity instruments so issued are regarded as consideration paid. The Group removes a financial liability from 
the consolidated statement of financial position when it is extinguished in accordance with HKAS 39.

The Group measures the consideration paid at the fair value of the equity instruments issued. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in 
profit or loss. The equity instruments are recognised initially and measured at the date the financial liability 
is extinguished.

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The following are other key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Reserve estimates

Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the 
Group’s properties. In order to calculate reserves, estimates and assumptions about a range of geological, 
technical and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, 
production costs, transport costs, commodity demand and commodity prices are required.

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies or fields to 
be determined by analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This process may require complex and 
difficult geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data.

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate reserve changes from period to period, and additional 
geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of reserves may change from period 
to period. Changes in estimated reserves may affect the Group’s financial results and financial position in a 
number of ways, including the following:

• carrying values of Khushuut Related Assets may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash 
flows, which may result in further impairment loss or a reversal of previously recognised impairment 
loss on these assets; and

• depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss may 
change where such charges are determined by the unit-of-production basis, or where the useful 
economic lives of assets change.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in Note 28, the Directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique 
for financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly used by market 
practitioners are applied. For derivative components of the convertible notes, Binomial Valuation Model is 
used for valuation of the component which involves several key assumptions and estimates including share 
price volatility, dividend yield and risk free rate. The Directors believe that the chosen valuation techniques 
and assumptions are appropriate in determining the fair value of financial instruments.

As at 31 March 2017, fair value of derivative component of the convertible notes is HK$298,246,000 (2016: 
HK$534,217,000).
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Estimated recoverable amount of Khushuut Related Assets

As described in Note 3, the Group engaged an independent valuer to determine the recoverable amount 
of the Khushuut Related Assets. For the purposes of recoverable amount testing, the Khushuut Related 
Assets are treated as a cash-generating unit and its recoverable amount has been determined based on 
a value in use calculation, which requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise 
from the cash-generating unit, using discounted cash flow analysis, in order to calculate the present value. 
Key assumptions used in the calculation include the current selling price for coking coal, growth rate, 
discount rate and estimate timeline for commercial coal production. During the year ended 31 March 2017, 
no impairment (2016: an impairment of HK$682,856,000) was recognised against the Khushuut Related 
Assets as its recoverable amount approximates (2016: lower) its carrying value. Changes to the assumptions 
underlying the assessment of the recoverable amount may have a significant effect on the recoverable 
amount of the Khushuut Related Assets. Where there are favourable or unfavourable changes in facts and 
circumstances which result in revision of the estimated future cash flows for the purpose of determining the 
value in use, a reversal of impairment or further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying value of Khushuut Related Assets is HK$277,587,000 (net of accumulated 
impairment loss of HK$15,470,421,000 (2016: carrying value of HK$272,220,000, net of accumulated 
impairment loss of HK$15,470,421,000).

Deferred taxation on unused tax losses

During the year ended 31 March 2017, tax losses of approximately HK$106,304,000 (2016: nil) was utilised 
to offset income tax liabilities. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of tax losses of 
approximately HK$451,733,000 and HK$653,182,000 as at 31 March, 2017 and 2016, respectively, due to 
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on 
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In case 
where the actual future profits generated are more than expected, a recognition of deferred tax assets may 
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition takes place.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is principally engaged in (i) mining, processing and sale of coal; and (ii) other resources related 
business. Revenue represents revenue arising from the sale of coal to external customers.

The Group’s operating activities are focusing on the coal mining business. This operating segment has 
been identified on the basis of information reported to the chief operating decision maker (i.e. the Executive 
Directors) for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment revenue and result

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and result by operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Coal mining Total
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Segment revenue 321,893 321,893
   

Segment profit 101,343 101,343
  

Unallocated expenses (Note) (56,065)
Other income 16
Other gains and losses 38,591
Changes in fair value on derivative component of convertible notes 235,971
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset (77)
Impairment loss on amount due from associate (8)
Finance costs (524,618)

   

Loss before taxation (204,847)
   

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Coal mining Total
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Segment revenue 156,701 156,701
   

Segment loss (754,412) (754,412)
  

Unallocated expenses (Note) (62,122)
Other income 4
Other gains and losses 49,503
Changes in fair value on derivative component of convertible notes 647,107
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial asset (165)
Impairment loss on amount due from associate (8)
Finance costs (433,362)

   

Loss before taxation (553,455)
   

Note: Unallocated expenses mainly include staff costs for corporate office, office rental and legal and professional fees.

The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 
in Note 4. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit (loss) from the coal mining operation without allocation 
of expenses not directly related to the operating segment, unallocated other income, finance costs, change in 
fair value of held-for-trading investments and derivative component of convertible notes, impairment loss on 
available-for-sale financial asset and amount due from associate. This is the measure reported to the chief 
operation decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating segment:

As at 31 March 2017

HK$’000
  

ASSETS
Segment assets – coal mining 541,000
Held-for-trading investments 156,713
Cash and cash equivalents 9,597
Other unallocated assets (Note (a)) 5,050

  

Consolidated total assets 712,360
  

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities – coal mining 218,017
Convertible notes 2,761,989
Advances from a Director 1,613,067
Other unallocated liabilities (Note (b)) 50,678

  

Consolidated total liabilities 4,643,751
  

As at 31 March 2016

HK$’000
  

ASSETS
Segment assets – coal mining 361,355
Held-for-trading investments 117,797
Cash and cash equivalents 9,841
Other unallocated assets (Note (a)) 10,701

  

Consolidated total assets 499,694
  

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities – coal mining 234,239
Convertible notes 2,587,653
Advances from a Director 1,383,023
Other unallocated liabilities (Note (b)) 47,663

  

Consolidated total liabilities 4,252,578
  

Notes:

(a) Other unallocated assets mainly represent property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, other asset and other 
receivables, prepayments and deposits not for coal mining business.

(b) Other unallocated liabilities mainly represent other payables and accruals not for coal mining business.
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit (loss) or segment assets:

Coal mining

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Capital additions 9,983 22,379
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,539 5,865
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment 10 41
Interest income 95 103
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,927 11,436
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment – 613,317
Impairment loss on intangible assets – 68,216
Impairment loss on prepaid lease payment – 1,323
Loss on write off of property, plant and equipment 16 801
Loss on write off of development in progress – 3,613

   

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong, Mongolia and the People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is presented based on location of 
customers:

Revenue
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Mongolia 2,864 3,347
The PRC 319,029 153,354

   

321,893 156,701
   

Information about its non-current assets is presented based on geographical location of the assets:

Non-current assets
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Hong Kong 2,703 8,629
Mongolia 270,269 271,546
The PRC 11,399 7,628

   

284,371 287,803
   

Note: Non-current assets exclude financial instruments.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 March 2017, there was one (2016: one) customer engaging in steel production that 
individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s turnover, amounting to HK$264,205,000 (2016: HK$152,484,000).
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7. OTHER INCOME

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest income 111 107
Government grants (Note and Note 29) 1,578 1,769
Sales of obsolete materials 7,846 –
Sundry incomes 1,072 1,841

   

10,607 3,717
   

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2017, a subsidy of HK$256,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB227,000) was received for 
the social security expense and reward for the increased in production and efficiency.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, a subsidy of HK$479,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB400,000) was received for 
the cross border trading activities.

Both of the above were credited to profit or loss immediately when received.

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Changes in fair value on held-for-trading investments 38,916 49,508
Early termination cost for a contractor (Note (a)) – (7,091)
Loss on write off of property, plant and equipment (16) (801)
Loss on write off of development in progress (Note 18) – (3,613)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 231 585
Reversal of loss on write off of prepayments for exploration 

and evaluation expenditure (Note (b)) 7,904 –
Gain on extinguishment of financial liabilities (Note 31(b)) – 2,788
Net exchange gain (loss) 3,904 (852)

   

50,939 40,524
   

Notes:

(a) On 25 May 2015, the Group issued a notice of termination to the overburden removal contractor. Based on the 
overburden removal services agreement, the Group is required to pay approximately HK$7.1 million indemnity to 
the overburden removal contractor under the condition that the contract is terminated for the convenience clause 
by the Group.

(b) Amount represented prepayment for exploration drilling which was written off by the Group during the year ended 
31 March 2015. Legal action was taken by the Group to recover the amount. A judgment in favour of the Group was 
granted during the year ended 31 March 2017 and refund of the prepayment was received subsequent to 31 March 
2017.
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9. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on advances from a Director (Note 35(a)) 114,311 90,449
Interest on other loan (Note) 366 –
Effective interest expense on convertible notes (Note 28) 410,307 342,913

   

524,984 433,362
   

Note: The amount represents interest payable to a loan which is unsecured and repayable on demand with principal 
amount of HK$7.4 million. The interest expense was charged at 6% per annum.

10. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12(a)) 10,898 10,804
Other staff costs:

Salaries and other benefits (net of reimbursement from  
a related party) (Note 35(c)(ii)) 59,023 65,491

Equity-settled share-based payments – 8,414
Retirement benefits scheme contributions (excluding  

contributions for Directors and net of reimbursement  
from a related party) (Note 35(c)(ii)) 6,245 6,250

   

Total staff costs 76,166 90,959
Less: staff costs capitalised in inventories (26,273) (20,340)

   

49,893 70,619
   

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,588 5,914
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11,930 15,656
Less: amortisation and depreciation capitalised in inventories (4,869) (9,056)

   

8,649 12,514
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment 10 41
Auditor’s remuneration 3,480 3,400
Rental income (net of negligible outgoing) – (894)
Operating lease rental in respect of office premises (net of 

reimbursement from a related party) (Note 35(c)(ii)) 2,829 5,918
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax – –
Deferred tax (Note 30) – –

   

– –
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% at the estimated assessable profit (if any) for both years.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax was calculated at the applicable enterprise income tax rate of 25% on the 
estimated assessable profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries (if any) for both years.

Mongolian corporate income tax was calculated at 10% to the first Mongolian Tugrik (“MNT”) 3 billion of 
annual taxable income and 25% on the remaining annual taxable income for both years.

The Company is not subject to any taxation in Bermuda. Bermuda levies no tax on the income of the Group.

No provision for Hong Kong and overseas taxation has been made in the consolidated financial statements as 
the Group has no assessable profit for both years.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss before taxation (204,847) (553,455)
   

Calculated at a tax rate of 25% (51,212) (138,364)
Tax effect on income not subject to tax (70,706) (174,514)
Tax effect on expenses not deductible for tax purposes 150,436 274,661
Tax effect on deductible temporary differences not recognised – 31,192
Tax effect on utilisation of deductible temporary differences  

previously not recognised (3,842) (19,045)
Tax effect on tax loss not recognised 1,909 26,070
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised (26,585) –

   

Income tax expense – –
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12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2017, disclosed pursuant 
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Name of Directors Fees Salaries
Other 

benefits

Employer’s 
contribution 

to MPF 
Scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Executive Directors
Lo Lin Shing, Simon – 6,000 236 17 6,253
Yvette Ong – 3,930 265 18 4,213

Non-executive Directors
To Hin Tsun, Gerald 100 – – – 100
Lo, Rex Cze Kei (Note (a)) 44 – – – 44

Independent Non-executive Directors
Lau Wai Piu 100 – – – 100
Tsui Hing Chuen, William 100 – – – 100
Lee Kee Wai, Frank (Note (b)) 44 – – – 44
Peter Pun (Note (c)) 44 – – – 44

      
432 9,930 501 35 10,898

      

Directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2016, disclosed pursuant 
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Name of Directors Fees Salaries
Other 

benefits

Equity-
settled 
share-
based 

payments

Employer’s 
contribution 

to MPF 
Scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Executive Directors
Lo Lin Shing, Simon – – 598 2,831 – 3,429
Yvette Ong – 3,961 253 833 18 5,065

Non-executive Director
To Hin Tsun, Gerald 10 – – 500 – 510

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Lau Wai Piu 100 – – 500 – 600
Tsui Hing Chuen, William 100 – – 500 – 600
Peter Pun (Note (c)) 100 – – 500 – 600

       
310 3,961 851 5,664 18 10,804

       

Notes:

(a) Lo, Rex Cze Kei was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 21 October 2016.

(b) Lee Kee Wai, Frank was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 21 October 2016.

(c) Peter Pun deceased and ceased to be a Director on 6 September 2016.



84 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS 
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

Yvette Ong is the chief executive of the Group. Her emolument disclosed above included those for 
services rendered by her as the chief executive.

During the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, no Director waived any directors’ emoluments.

The emoluments of the Executive Director shown above were mainly for their services in connection 
with management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors shown above 
were mainly for their services as Directors.

(b) Five highest paid employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2016: two) were Directors whose 
emoluments are included in Note (a) above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) 
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Basic salaries, other allowances and benefits in kind 6,415 6,875
Bonus 1,178 704
Contributions to MPF Scheme 36 36
Equity-settled share-based payments – 5,664

   

7,629 13,279
   

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
Emolument bands 2017 2016

   

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 1 1
HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 2 –
HK$5,000,001 – HK$5,500,000 – 1
HK$5,500,001 – HK$6,000,000 – 1

   

3 3
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13. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2017 nor has any dividend 
been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2016: Nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loss attributable to owners of the Company, as used in the  
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 204,847 553,455

   

2017 2016
‘000 ‘000

   

Number of shares
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic and  

diluted loss per share 1,815,558 1,739,445
   

Note: The computation of diluted loss per share for both years did not assume the exercise of share options or the 
conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible notes since assuming the exercise of the share options or the 
conversion of the convertible notes would result in a decrease in loss per share.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Mining 
structures

Mineral 
properties 

Construction 
in progress

Leasehold 
improvements

Computer 
equipment

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Plant, 
machinery 
and other 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
(Note)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
          

COST
At 1 April 2015 657,816 12,948,859 52,558 12,785 7,767 8,895 262,796 93,750 14,045,226
Exchange adjustments – (49) – (17) (43) (31) (6,886) (965) (7,991)
Additions 17,182 – 2,695 9,543 386 774 2,160 – 32,740
Written off (4,680) – (638) (11,496) (1,170) (1,237) (122) (1,315) (20,658)
Reclassification between 

categories 19 – (930) – 2 – 909 – –
Disposals – – – – (522) (6) (23) (207) (758)

          

At 31 March 2016 670,337 12,948,810 53,685 10,815 6,420 8,395 258,834 91,263 14,048,559
Exchange adjustments – 491 (92) (22) (61) (49) (9,153) (1,260) (10,146)
Additions 3,132 – 3,540 106 152 47 2,311 521 9,809
Written off – – – – (177) (7) – (923) (1,107)
Reclassification between 

categories – – (3,357) – – – 3,196 161 –
Disposals – – – – (52) (10) – (668) (730)

          

At 31 March 2017 673,469 12,949,301 53,776 10,899 6,282 8,376 255,188 89,094 14,046,385
          

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2015 612,133 12,183,088 51,170 12,394 5,714 6,297 234,103 83,923 13,188,822
Exchange adjustments – (1) – (17) (23) (15) (6,089) (834) (6,979)
Charge for the year 721 1,811 – 4,016 960 815 3,772 3,561 15,656
Written off (4,623) – – (11,496) (1,169) (1,233) (21) (1,315) (19,857)
Disposals – – – – (522) (6) – (92) (620)
Impairment loss 

recognised in profit  
or loss (Note 3) 44,405 546,178 1,798 – – – 19,343 1,593 613,317

          

At 31 March 2016 652,636 12,731,076 52,968 4,897 4,960 5,858 251,108 86,836 13,790,339
Exchange adjustments – 49 (66) (21) (46) (28) (8,995) (1,073) (10,180)
Charge for the year 264 1,077 – 5,354 845 790 1,418 2,182 11,930
Written off – – – – (165) (7) – (919) (1,091)
Disposals – – – – (52) (10) – (666) (728)

          

At 31 March 2017 652,900 12,732,202 52,902 10,230 5,542 6,603 243,531 86,360 13,790,270
          

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 March 2017 20,569 217,099 874 669 740 1,773 11,657 2,734 256,115

          

At 31 March 2016 17,701 217,734 717 5,918 1,460 2,537 7,726 4,427 258,220
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Note:

On 16 July 2009, the Parliament of Mongolia enacted the Mining Prohibition Law (the “MPL”) which prohibits minerals 
exploration and mining in areas such as headwaters of rivers and lakes, forest areas and areas adjacent to rivers and 
lakes (the “Defined Prohibited Areas”). Pursuant to the MPL, the Mongolian government was supposed to define the 
boundaries of the relevant prohibited areas by 16 October 2009 but it had not done so by the prescribed time. It also states 
that any previously granted licences that overlap the Defined Prohibited Areas will be terminated within five months 
following the enactment of the law.

The MPL further states that affected licence holders shall be compensated but details as to how the compensation is 
determined have not been specified in the MPL and the Mongolian government has not yet released any further guidance 
on how to interpret the MPL.

On 18 February 2015, the Parliament of Mongolia amended the Law on Implementation of the Law on Prohibition of 
Exploration and Mining in Headwaters of Rivers, Protected Water Basins Zones and Forested Areas, and provided option 
for the licence holders to continue their operations subject to undertaking a number of obligations in operations and 
submit a request to the Mineral Resources and Petroleum Authority of Mongolia (the “MRPAM”) and enter into agreement 
with the Ministry of Environment, Green Development and Tourism of Mongolia, MRPAM and the governor of the relevant 
province.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, MoEnCo LLC (“MoEnCo”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, made revision 
to the coordinates of licensed area of 11888A which was the mining concession being affected by MPL by removing any 
overlap in the protected area. At 31 March 2017, the MRPAM confirmed that no mining concession (At 31 March 2016: Nil) 
owned by MoEnCo has partially overlapped with protected area under the MPL.

The following estimated useful lives are used for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Leasehold improvements over unexpired lease terms
Computer equipment 3 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5 – 10 years
Plant, machinery and other equipment 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Mineral properties based on resources on a unit-of-production basis
Mining structures based on resources on a unit-of-production basis or straight 

line method over 10 years, whichever is appropriate

The mineral properties incorporate both the mining rights (intangible) and the underlying mineral reserve 
(tangible) elements. The Directors consider the tangible reserve is the more significant element and hence 
the entire mineral properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of the year 528 1,975
Amortisation (10) (41)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss – (1,323)
Exchange alignment (31) (83)

   

At the end of the year 487 528
   

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 10 15
Non-current assets 477 513

   

At the end of the year 487 528
   

Prepaid lease payment represents land use right in Xinjiang, the PRC.



88 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software

Exclusive right 
of use of 

paved road Total
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

COST
At 1 April 2015 3,948 1,906,297 1,910,245
Disposals (45) – (45)

    

At 31 March 2016 3,903 1,906,297 1,910,200
Additions 141 – 141
Disposals (6) – (6)

    

At 31 March 2017 4,038 1,906,297 1,910,335
    

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2015 2,680 1,805,515 1,808,195
Charge for the year 541 5,373 5,914
Written off (45) – (45)
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss (Note 3) – 68,216 68,216

    

At 31 March 2016 3,176 1,879,104 1,882,280
Charge for the year 561 1,027 1,588
Written off (6) – (6)

    

At 31 March 2017 3,731 1,880,131 1,883,862
    

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 March 2017 307 26,166 26,473

    

At 31 March 2016 727 27,193 27,920
    

Notes:

(a) The software has finite useful lives and is amortised on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2009, an agreement was entered into between the Governor’s Administration 
Office of Khovd Province of Mongolia (the “Governor”) and MoEnCo, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
regarding the right of use of a road granted by the Governor to MoEnCo subject to certain conditions. Under the 
terms of the agreement, MoEnCo will construct a road at its own cost from the Group’s mine areas in Khushuut, 
Western Mongolia to the Yarant border crossing with Xinjiang, PRC, with the construction permit granted to MoEnCo 
from the Ministry of Road, Transportation and Tourism of the Mongolian government. In return, MoEnCo enjoys 
the rights, which was granted at the date of the agreement, for the unrestricted use of the road for 30 years (the 
“Approved Period”). The road will be opened to public use subject to certain weight restrictions whereupon the 
Group may direct users including commercial users. The Group is also responsible for maintenance of the road 
during the Approved Period. The Group will use the road mainly for the purpose of transporting coal from its mine 
areas to its customers in the PRC.

In the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had completed construction of 311 km of the road and the formal 
approval from the Mongolian government on the road commissioning was obtained. HK$1,906,297,000, 
representing 311 km of road construction costs, was transferred from development in progress as an exclusive 
right of use of paved road under intangible assets.

The exclusive right of use of paved road has finite useful lives and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
licence period and included in the cash-generating unit with other Khushuut Related Assets for impairment 
assessment purpose.
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18. DEVELOPMENT IN PROGRESS

Development in 
progress
HK$’000

  

At 1 April 2015 3,613
Written off (3,613)

  

At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 –
  

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group has written off all cost related to the development in 
progress in connection to the construction cost of another section of the road of approximately 29 km of 
which the Group has a right to use. Management concluded that it was not economically feasible to further 
develop the remaining section of the road.

19. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Mining and 
exploration 

rights Others Total
(Note (a)) (Note (c))
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 – – –
Addition (Note (b)) 151 5 156

    

At 31 March 2017 151 5 156
    

Notes:

(a) In prior years, mining and exploration rights include an exploration concession of around 2,986 hectares in Western 
Mongolia for ferrous resources. This iron ore exploration concession has been affected by the MPL. Zvezdametrika 
LLC (“Z LLC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which owns the iron ore exploration concession, received 
a notice from the MRPAM during the year ended 31 March 2010 about the potential revocation of its exploration 
concession under the MPL and Z LLC was requested to submit the estimated compensation for termination of 
licences with supporting documents. After taking legal advice from the Group’s Mongolian legal advisers, the Group 
decided not to respond to the MRPAM’s request. The Group’s legal advisers have confirmed that their interpretation 
of the relevant legislation is that, following determination and removal of any overlap with prohibited areas and 
making revisions to the coordinates of the licensed area, the mineral licence will remain valid less the overlapping 
areas. The Group is not currently operating within what it considers to be the overlapping areas. According to the 
best knowledge of management, there was no revocation of its licence at 31 March 2017.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the condition of the iron ore market in China became considerably more 
unfavourable due to the significant drop in iron ore prices and the continuing fall in demand. In view of the then 
and present market sentiment, the development and production costs are expected to be high which will unlikely 
to achieve a positive return for the Group. Further, the exploration and the ongoing development of the iron mine 
would require additional capital by the Group and increase the Group’s financial pressure in addition to the need for 
its coal mining business. Based on the aforesaid, management is of the view that it is not in the Group’s interest to 
develop and retain the iron mine and has decided to concentrate the Group’s resources on the re-commencement 
of commercial production of the Khushuut Coal Mine. In view of the then pessimistic business outlook of the iron 
ore industry and the significant capital investment required to develop the iron ore concession, management of the 
Group is of the opinion that it is unlikely to identify a potential purchaser to acquire the iron ore concession in its 
current condition (also taking into account the uncertainties of the application of the MPL to the concession), before 
the exploration licence expires in October 2020.
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19. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)
Notes (Continued)

(a) (Continued)
Also, based on the research performed by management during the year ended 31 March 2015, minimal transactions 
in the market in Mongolia for iron ore concessions were recorded due to the fact that current market conditions 
are making investment in smaller iron ore concessions uneconomical (in particular those in more remote regions 
without established infrastructure). Management therefore determined that the recoverable amount of this iron ore 
exploration concession, if any, was likely to be minimal and decided that the entire carrying amount was impaired 
during the year ended 31 March 2015.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, management considered that the factors mentioned above continued to apply 
and concluded that the recoverable amount of the iron ore concession remains minimal. Accordingly, no reversal of 
impairment loss was considered necessary in the current year. As at 31 March 2017, only limited exploration works 
were done on the iron ore concession.

(b) Addition represents an exploration concession tendered during the year.

(c) Other represents the expense incurred for the concession tendered during the year.

(d) Exploration and mining licences are granted for an initial period of 3 and 30 years respectively. The exploration 
licences can be extended for three successive periods of 3 years each and mining licences for two successive 
periods of 20 years each.

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cost of associates
Unlisted shares, at cost 2,839 2,839

Share of results (2,839) (2,839)
   

– –
   

Amounts due from associates 10,949 10,941
Impairment losses (10,949) (10,941)

   

– –
   

Details of the associates at 31 March 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Name
Place of 
incorporation

Principal 
place of 
operation

Particulars of 
issued share 
capital Interest held

Principal 
activity

2017 2016
       

eGuanxi (Cayman) 
Limited

Cayman Islands Hong Kong 6,667,000 shares  
of US$1.00 each

25% 25% Inactive

Profit Billion 
International Private 
Limited (“Profit 
Billion”)*

Singapore Singapore 10 shares of  
S$1.00 each

20% 20% Investment  
holding

       

* MoOiCo LLC (“MoOiCo”) is wholly owned by Profit Billion and became inactive since the year ended 31 March 2014.
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES (Continued)
There is no commitment contracted but not provided for in respect of further capital investment in associates 
for both years.

The amounts due from associates for both years include shareholder’s loans to MoOiCo. That amount is 
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Total assets 923 924
Total liabilities (37,360) (37,701)

   

Net liabilities (36,437) (36,777)
   

Group’s share of net assets of associates – –
   

Revenue – –
   

Profit for the year 340 16
   

Other comprehensive income for the year – –
Total comprehensive income for the year 340 16
The Group’s share of profit – –

   

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interests in  
these associates – –

   

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses of both associates. The amounts of 
unrecognised share of losses of those associates as at year ended 31 March, extracted from the relevant 
management accounts of associates, both for the year and cumulatively, are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Unrecognised share of profit of an associate for the year 68 3
   

Cumulative unrecognised share of losses of associates 4,448 4,516
   

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET
The investment is measured at cost less impairment at the end of each reporting period because the range 
of reasonable fair value estimates cannot be measured reliably, wherein the impairment loss is determined 
by reference to the recoverable amount of the investment.

The Group had no capital commitments in respect of the investment for both years.
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22. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 18,087 25,024
Bill receivables 36,995 2,980
Accrued income (Note) 104,504 1,707

   

159,586 29,711
   

Note: Income was accrued on the basis that coals are delivered and the customer has accepted the goods and invoice will 
be issued within 3 months.

The Group allows a credit period of 30-60 days to its customers upon issue of invoices, except for new 
customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The following is an aged analysis of trade and bill 
receivables.

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

1-30 days 41,757 8,546
31-60 days 49,447 –
61-90 days 19,316 –
Over 90 days 49,066 21,165

   

159,586 29,711
   

As of 31 March 2017, trade receivables of HK$216,000 (2016: HK$14,836,000) were past due but not impaired. 
These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The Group 
does not hold any collateral over these balances. The aged analysis by due date of these trade receivables is 
as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

1-30 days 47 14,478
31-60 days 26 –
61-90 days – 15
Over 90 days 143 343

   

216 14,836
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23. INVENTORIES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Coal 58,951 18,702
Materials and supplies 3,771 4,100

   

62,722 22,802
   

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other receivables 10,589 2,458
Prepayments 3,864 3,415
Deposits 1,711 2,572
Others 18,597 13,884

   

34,761 22,329
   

25. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Equity securities of companies listed in Hong Kong 156,713 117,797
   

Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market bid prices.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank balances and cash 14,197 19,237
   

There was no short-term deposit placed for both years. Cash at bank earns interest at rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates.
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27. TRADE PAYABLES
The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 to 30 days 15,764 5,312
31 to 60 days 20,828 255
61 to 90 days 9,616 –
Over 90 days 56,781 123,637

   

102,989 129,204
   

28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES
The movement of the debt and derivative components of convertible notes for the year is set out below:

Debt component Derivative component Total
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

At beginning of the year 2,053,436 1,710,523 534,217 1,181,324 2,587,653 2,891,847
Interest charge 410,307 342,913 – – 410,307 342,913
Changes in fair value of 

derivative component – – (235,971) (647,107) (235,971) (647,107)
       

At end of the year 2,463,743 2,053,436 298,246 534,217 2,761,989 2,587,653
       

2014 Convertible Notes with maturity date 21 November 2019

In prior years, the Company issued HK$200 million 5% convertible note to Golden Infinity Co., Ltd. (“Golden 
Infinity”) (the “5% GI Convertible Note”), HK$200 million 5% convertible note to Chow Tai Fook Nominee 
Limited (“CTF”) (the “5% CTF Convertible Note”) and HK$2 billion 3% convertible note to CTF (the “3% CTF 
Convertible Note”).

On 19 September 2014, the Company entered into the subscription agreements with CTF, Golden Infinity and 
the holders of the 3.5% convertible notes with principal amount in aggregate amount of HK$466.8 million 
(the “3.5% OZ Convertible Note”), who conditionally agreed to subscribe for new 5-year 3% convertible notes 
at the subscription price which would be used for full settlement of the outstanding principal amount and 
accrued interest of the 5% GI Convertible Note, the 3% CTF Convertible Note, the 3.5% OZ Convertible Note 
and the 5% CTF Convertible Note.

On 21 November 2014, the Company issued convertible notes at HK$2,424,822,000, HK$542,315,000 and 
HK$499,878,000 to CTF, Golden Infinity and the holders of the 3.5% OZ Convertible Note respectively (the 
“2014 Convertible Notes”).

The 2014 Convertible Notes with principal amount of HK$3,467,015,000 has a maturity period of five years 
from the issue date to 21 November 2019. It can be converted into 1 ordinary share of the Company of 
HK$0.02 each for every HK$0.87 (adjusted) convertible note at the holders’ option at any time between the 
issue date and the maturity date. The outstanding principal amount would be redeemed at par value on the 
maturity date or at the issuer’s option redeemed at par plus outstanding coupon payment at any time between 
the issue date and the maturity date. Interest of 3% per annum will be paid in arrears on the maturity date.
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28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)
2014 Convertible Notes with maturity date 21 November 2019 (Continued)

The 2014 Convertible Notes contains two components, a debt component and derivative component with a 
conversion option derivative of the holders and a callable option derivative of the issuer. The effective interest 
rate of the debt component is 19.96%. The derivative component with a conversion option derivative of the 
holders is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss whereas the fair value 
of the derivative component with a callable option derivative considered is immaterial as at 31 March 2017 
and 2016.

Binomial Valuation Model is used for the valuation of the derivative component. The major inputs into the 
model were as follows:

21 November 31 March 31 March
2014 2016 2017

    

Stock price HK$0.63 HK$0.19 HK$0.26
Exercise price HK$0.92 HK$0.89 HK$0.87
Volatility (Note (a)) 102.00% 140.00% 82.02%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Option life (Note (b)) 5 years 3.64 years 2.64 years
Risk free rate 1.23% 0.78% 1.00%

    

Notes:

(a) The volatility used in the model was determined by reference to the historical volatility of the Company’s share 
price.

(b) The option life as at 31 March 2017 is based on the maturity date of the notes.

The fair value of the derivative component of 2014 Convertible Notes was determined with reference to a 
valuation report carried out by an Independent Valuer.

No conversion was made during the year ended 31 March 2017.
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29. DEFERRED INCOME

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of the year 11,756 12,242
Granted (Note) 790 1,316
Credited to profit or loss (1,322) (1,290)
Exchange adjustment (676) (512)

   

At end of the year 10,548 11,756
   

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current liabilities 1,352 1,345
Non-current liabilities 9,196 10,411

   

10,548 11,756
   

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2017, a grant of HK$790,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB700,000) (2016: 
HK$1,316,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,100,000)) was received for the improvement of the machinery and 
facilities in the washing plant in Xinjiang, the PRC.

Both of the above were recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised 
in profit or loss over the useful life (i.e. 10 years) of the related assets.

30. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of 
the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. At 31 March 2017, estimated tax losses of 
the Group not utilised amounted to HK$451,733,000 (2016: HK$653,182,000). Of the unutilised tax losses as 
at 31 March 2016, an amount of HK$102,742,000 was expired during the year. No deferred tax asset has been 
recognised for these tax losses as it is uncertain as to whether there will be sufficient future taxable profits 
to utilise these tax losses. Except for tax losses of HK$404,761,000 (2016: HK$606,209,000) expiring within 4 
years, the remaining balances have no expiry date.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary differences of HK$2,138,253,000 
(2016: HK$2,138,253,000) due to the impairment loss recognised on Khushuut Related Assets and HK$Nil 
(2016: HK$15,369,000) due to the allowance for inventory. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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31. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised and issued share capital

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Authorised: 
15,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 300,000 300,000   

Number of
ordinary

shares at
HK$0.02 each Amount

HK$’000
   

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2015 1,689,136,957 33,783
Issue of ordinary shares for settlement of account payables  

(Note (b)) 97,621,542 1,952
   

At 31 March 2016 1,786,758,499 35,735
Issue of ordinary shares

Exercise of share options (Note (c)) 34,500,000 690
Placement of new shares (Note (d)) 60,000,000 1,200

   

At 31 March 2017 1,881,258,499 37,625
   

Notes:

(a) The Company completed the capital reorganisation on 12 November 2014. It was approved by the shareholders 
at the special general meeting held on 12 November 2014. The Company’s share of every four issued existing 
shares of par value of HK$0.02 each were consolidated into one consolidated share of par value of HK$0.08 
each (the “Consolidated Share”), 5,067,411,000 shares were reduced. The par value of each issued Consolidated 
Share was reduced from HK$0.08 to HK$0.02 by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.06 on each 
issued Consolidated Share (“Capital Reduction”) and the credit arising from the Capital Reduction amounted 
to HK$101,348,000 was transferred to contributed surplus account of the Company. The share premium of the 
Company amounting to HK$13,107,506,000 was cancelled and transferred to contributed surplus account of the 
Company. The application of the contributed surplus account of the Company to set off the accumulated losses of 
the Company amounted to HK$9,956,555,000 as permitted by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and 
the Bye-Laws.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2016, 97,621,542 shares in aggregate were issued to creditors for partial 
settlement of financial liabilities at the respective market prices of the shares on completion date at weighted-
average price of HK$0.26 per share.

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2017, share options were exercised to subscribe for 34,500,000 ordinary shares of 
the Company at a consideration of approximately HK$8,660,000 of which approximately HK$690,000 was credited 
to share capital and approximately HK$13,718,000 was credited to the share premium account. As a result of 
the exercise of share options, share option reserve of HK$5,748,000 had been transferred to the share premium 
account.

(d) On 17 January 2017, the Company completed a placing of 60,000,000 shares at a subscription price of HK$0.26 per 
share. These new shares rank pari passu in all respect with the existing shares. Net proceeds of the placement 
amounted to approximately HK$15,595,000. The difference between the net proceeds and the par value of share 
capital issued amounting to HK$14,395,000 was credited to the share premium account.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
Equity-settled share option scheme

Under the share option schemes adopted by the Company on 28 August 2002 (“2002 Share Option Scheme”) 
and 30 August 2012 respectively, options were granted to certain Directors, employees and consultants of the 
Group entitling them to subscribe for shares of the Company. Options may be exercised at any time from the 
date of grant of the share options. The 2002 Share Option Scheme expired and was terminated on 27 August 
2012. Upon the termination of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, no further options would be granted but the 
options granted prior to such termination continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with provisions 
of the 2002 Share Option Scheme.

As the fair value of the services cannot be estimated reliability, the Binominal Valuation Model has been used 
to estimate the fair value of the options.

Movements of share options outstanding and their weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

2017 2016  

Weighted
average

exercise price
per share

HK$
Number of

share options

Weighted
average

exercise price
per share

HK$
Number of

share options
     

Exercisable at beginning  
of the year 0.5843 103,500,000 3.8550 21,700,000

Granted – – 0.2510 84,500,000
Exercised 0.2510 (34,500,000) – –
Lapsed 3.2400 (7,625,000) 16.4400 (2,700,000)

     

Exercisable at end of the year 0.4417 61,375,000 0.5843 103,500,000
     

34,500,000 share options were exercised during the year (2016: Nil).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period have the following exercisable period and 
exercise price:

Number of shares 
subject to options

Date of grant Exercise price Exercisable period 2017 2016
HK$

     

29-02-2012 3.240 29-02-2012 to 28-02-2017 – 7,625,000
08-04-2013 1.280 08-04-2013 to 07-04-2018 11,375,000 11,375,000
09-09-2015 0.251 09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 50,000,000 84,500,000

     

61,375,000 103,500,000
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)
The fair values of options granted during the year ended 31 March 2016 were determined as follows:

At 9 September
2015

  

Option value (at grant date) HK$14,077,700
Fair value per option (at grant date) HK$0.1666

Significant inputs into the valuation model:
Exercise price HK$0.25
Share price at grant date HK$0.25
Expected volatility (Note (a)) 85.18%
Risk-free interest rate 1.10%
Life of options 5 years
Expected dividend yield 0%
Valuation model applied Binomial
Vesting period Vest upon grant

Notes:

(a) The expected volatility is with reference to historical price volatility of the Company over the expected option period.

(b) HK$14,078,000 expense in relation to share options granted was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2016.

33. COMMITMENTS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following 
commitments:

(a) Commitments under operating leases

The Group as lessee
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases in respect of offices and staff quarters as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Not later than one year 1,227 4,835

Later than one year and not later than five years 462 379   

1,689 5,214   

Operating leases relate to offices and staff quarters with lease terms of between 1 to 4 years (2016: 1 to 
5 years).
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33. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(b) Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had capital commitments contracted for but not provided in the 
consolidated financial statements amounting to HK$27,413,000 (2016: HK$51,406,000). These 
commitments are for the following projects:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Exploration drilling – 24,105

Other exploration related commitments 253 253

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7,646 7,668

Road improvement and drilling equipment transport 11,968 11,968

Wash plant 7,249 7,077

Others 297 335   

27,413 51,406   

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company and MoEnCo disputed the services provided by the 
former mining contractor and disagreed on the amount charged and the quality of services provided under 
the former mining contract and accordingly, refused to settle the contractor fees as claimed by the former 
mining contractor.

The former mining contractor issued two writ of summons on 14 February 2013 and 30 May 2013 claiming for 
the total sum of approximately HK$93.7 million. In May 2015, the former mining contractor applied to Court 
to amend its statements of claim under the two writs by amending, among others, (i) the currency of the 
claims from Mongolian Tugrik to United States dollars; and (ii) the amount of the claim to include the alleged 
contractor’s fees up to October 2014. According to amended statement of claims, two writ of summons 
make the total claims at approximately HK$198.9 million. In April 2016, a mediation meeting between the 
Company and the former mining contractor was held before a mediator but the parties were unable to 
reach a settlement agreement, thus the mediation was terminated and the legal proceedings moved on. In 
September 2016, the Company received a revised statement of claim consolidating the two actions with a 
claim amount of approximately HK$105.6 million from the former mining contractor, of which approximately 
HK$50.0 million was provided for in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 
HK$50.0 million). The Company has filed a consolidated defence and based on the opinion provided by legal 
counsel of the Company, the Directors consider that the payment of the remaining balance is not probable.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Advances from Mr. Lo

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Balance of advances 1,613,067 1,383,023   

Interest charge for the year 114,311 90,449   

Note:

The advances are related to the facility granted by Mr. Lo as set out in Note 1. The amounts are unsecured and 
repayable on demand. Mr. Lo does not intend to demand repayment until the Company has sufficient cash to make 
repayment. The interest expense is charged at the Hong Kong Prime Rate plus 3% for both years.

(b) Other loan payable to and interest charge on convertible note by a related party – 
Golden Infinity

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Convertible note payable 458,663 404,764
Interest charge on convertible note for the year (Note (ii)) 16,269 16,269   

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lo has a controlling interest in Golden Infinity. Details of the convertible note held by Golden Infinity are 
set out in Note 28.

(ii) Amount represents nominal interest charge on convertible note. The effective interest expense on 
convertible note for the year is approximately HK$64,181,000. (2016: HK$53,639,000).

(c) Transactions with related parties

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Rental income received from a related party (Note (i)) – 894
Rental expenses paid to related parties (Note (i)) 3,840 3,141
Reimbursement of sharing of administrative services from a 

related party (Notes (i) and (ii)) 10,327 7,036
   

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lo is one of the Directors or the sole Director of the related parties.

(ii) On 10 July 2015, the Group entered into a share of administrative service agreement with a related party in 
relating to sharing of office space of the Group’s Hong Kong office, supporting staff and other facilities. The 
service is charged at cost basis. The Group further renewed the contract with the related party on 30 June 
2016.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d) Balance with related parties

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Rental deposits paid to related parties (Note) 393 411
   

Note:

Mr. Lo is one of the Directors or the sole Director of the related parties.

(e) Key management compensation

The remuneration of Directors, represented key management of the Group, during the year was as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Basic salaries, other allowances and benefits in kind 10,863 5,122
Equity-settled share-based payments – 5,664
Contributions to MPF Scheme 35 18

   

10,898 10,804
   

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2016, 34,000,000 share options were granted to the Directors. Options granted were 
immediately vested at the date of grant. The fair values of the total options at the date of grant were determined 
using the Binomial Valuation Model.

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes other loan, advances from a Director 
disclosed in Note 35(a) and convertible notes disclosed in Note 28, net of cash and cash equivalents and 
equity of the Group, comprising share capital and reserves.

Management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly, taking into account the cost and risk 
associated with the capital. The Group will balance its capital structure through new shares issues, the issue 
of new debt or the redemption of the existing debts.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including bank balances and cash) 185,243 53,087
Available-for-sale financial asset – –
Held-for-trading investments 156,713 117,797

Financial liabilities
Measured at amortised cost 4,303,098 3,692,975
Embedded derivative component of convertible notes 298,246 534,217

   

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and bill receivables, other receivables and deposits, 
available-for-sale financial asset, held-for-trading investments, cash and cash equivalents, trade 
payables, other payables, advances from a Director, other loan and convertible notes. Details of the 
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. There has been no 
significant change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the risk. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC and Mongolia. The exposure to foreign 
currency risk mainly arises from trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
trade payables, other payables, advances from a Director, and convertible notes denominated in 
currencies other than functional currency of the relevant group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

HK$ 4,085,394 3,442,602 6,323 6,241
Renminbi (“RMB”) 45,866 53,488 8,385 119
MNT 24,446 11,530 4,828 4,394

     

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management monitors 
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The currency risk on HK$ is insignificant as the HK$ is pegged with the US$.

The Group is mainly exposed to the currencies of RMB and MNT against US$, the functional 
currency of relevant group entities.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2016: 5%) increase and decrease in US$ 
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2016: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting 
foreign currency risk internally and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 
foreign currency denominated monetary items. A positive/negative number below indicates an 
increase/decrease in post-tax loss where US$ weakening 5% (2016: 5%) against RMB and MNT 
respectively. For a 5% (2016: 5%) strengthen of US$ against RMB and MNT respectively, there 
would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss, vice versa.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

RMB MNT  

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Increase in loss for the year (Note) 1,874 2,668 981 357
     

Note:

This is mainly attributable to the exposure from outstanding trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents and trade and other payables denominated in RMB and MNT at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate other loan and 
convertible notes (see Note 28). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in 
relation to variable-rate bank balances (see Note 26) and advances from a Director (see Note 
35(a)).

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, Management 
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when significant 
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly due to the Hong Kong Prime Rate in relation to 
advances from a Director.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group’s interest rate risk arises principally from advances from a Director as the effect on 
bank balances is considered not significant. The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared 
assuming that the change in interest rate had occurred at the end of the respective reporting 
period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the existence of advances 
from a Director at that date and outstanding for the whole year. The 50 basis points represent the 
best estimation of the possible change in the interest rates over the period until the end of the 
next reporting period.

As at 31 March 2017, if interest rates had decreased/increased by 50 basis points and all 
other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year would decrease/increase by 
HK$6,416,000 (2016: HK$5,837,000). The Group has no other significant interest rate risk.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Other price risk

(a) Price risk on equity securities
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed equity securities 
classified as held-for-trading investments. Management regularly reviews the expected 
returns from holding these investments on an individual basis.

The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on entities operating in the network 
security and service industry.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price 
risks at the end of the reporting period for held-for-trading investments.

If the listed share prices of the respective equity instruments had been 5% higher/lower, 
the loss for the year ended 31 March 2017 would decrease/increase by HK$7,836,000 (2016: 
HK$5,890,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments.

The Group is also exposed to equity price risk in relating to its available-for-sale 
investment. No sensitivity analysis has been performed as the investment is measured at 
cost less impairment and management considers that the risk is insignificant. As at 31 
March 2017, the investment has been fully impaired.

(b) Price risk on embedded derivatives components of the convertible notes (defined in Note 28)
For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company is required to estimate the fair value 
of the derivative component of the convertible notes, including conversion options, with 
changes in fair value to be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as long 
as the convertible notes are outstanding. The fair value will be affected either positively 
or negatively, amongst others, by the changes in the Company’s share price, share price 
volatility and risk free rate.

Sensitivity analysis
If the listed share price of the Company had been 5% higher/lower and all other input 
variables of the valuation model were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year would 
increase by HK$22,503,000 (2016: HK$28,337,000)/decrease by HK$39,239,000 (2016: 
HK$28,337,000), as a result of changes in fair value of the derivative component of the 
convertible notes.

If the volatility of listed share prices of the Company had been 5% higher/lower and all 
other input variables of the valuation model were held constant, the Group’s loss for the 
year would increase by HK$27,999,000 (2016: HK$13,249,000)/decrease by HK$45,162,000 
(2016: HK$13,933,000), as a result of changes in fair value of the derivative component of the 
convertible notes.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analyses above are unrepresentative of the 
inherent price risk as the pricing model used in the valuation of these embedded derivatives 
involves multiple variables and certain variables are interdependent.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk
As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to 
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying 
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual 
debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly 
reduced.

Other than concentration risk on liquid funds which are deposited with banks that have good credit 
ratings, the Group has concentration of credit risk as 87% (2016: 99%) of the total trade and bill 
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer within the coal mining segment.

Liquidity risk
In Management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by Management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of borrowings. The amount of 
net current liabilities is HK$1,444,577,000 (2016: HK$1,442,623,000).

As at 31 March 2017, the Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full its financial 
obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable future as Mr. Lo has provided facilities amounting to 
HK$1,900.0 million with HK$286.9 million unutilised to meet the Group’s future funding needs. Mr. Lo 
does not intend to demand repayment until the Company has sufficient cash to make repayment.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted 
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. 
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating 
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period. The 
contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
2017

Weighted
average

effective
interest rate

Less than
1 month or

repayable on
demand

1 to 3
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1 to 5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying
amount at 
31 March

2017
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Trade payables (Note 27) – 102,478 511 – – 102,989 102,989
Other payables – 81,011 5,489 29,044 – 115,544 115,544
Other loan – fixed rate 6% 7,755 – – – 7,755 7,755
Advances from a Director 

– floating rate (Note 35(a)) 8% 1,613,067 – – – 1,613,067 1,613,067
Convertible notes  

(debt component)
– fixed rate (Note 28) 19.96% – – – 3,987,067 3,987,067 2,463,743

        

1,804,311 6,000 29,044 3,987,067 5,826,422 4,303,098
        

2016

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

Less than
1 month or

repayable on
demand

1 to 3
months

3 months
to 1 year 1 to 5 years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows

Carrying
amount at
31 March

2016
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Trade payables (Note 27) – 125,567 3,637 – – 129,204 129,204
Other payables – 93,053 5,305 28,930 24 127,312 127,312
Advances from a Director 

– floating rate (Note 35(a)) 8% 1,383,023 – – – 1,383,023 1,383,023
Convertible notes  

(debt component)
– fixed rate (Note 28) 19.96% – – – 3,987,067 3,987,067 2,053,436

         

1,601,643 8,942 28,930 3,987,091 5,626,606 3,692,975
         

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities 
is subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates 
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
The Executive Directors are responsible for determining the appropriate valuation techniques and 
inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group 
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the 
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The Executive Directors work 
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs 
to the model. The Executive Directors review the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and 
liabilities.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various 
assets and liabilities are disclosed above.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis
The Group’s held-for-trading investments and embedded derivative component of convertible notes are 
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about 
how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the 
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair 
value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair 
value measurements is observable.

Fair value as at 31 March

Financial assets/
financial liabilities 2017 2016

Fair 
value hierarchy

Valuation 
technique(s) and 
key input(s)

Significant 
unobservable 
input

Relationship of 
unobservable 
input to fair value

         

1) Listed equity 
securities 
classified as 
held-for-trading 
investments

HK$156,713,000 HK$117,797,000 Level 1 – Quoted bid
prices in an 
active market

N/A N/A

2) Embedded 
derivatives 
component of 
convertible notes

HK$298,246,000 HK$534,217,000 Level 3 – Binomial
Valuation 
Model

– The key inputs
are stock 
price, exercise 
price, option 
life, risk free 
rate, volatility 
and dividend 
yield

– Volatility is
82.02%  
(2016: 
140.00%)

– A slight
increase
in the volatility 
would result 
in significant 
higher 
fair value 
measurement, 
and vice versa 
(Note)

Note:

Sensitivity analysis is performed in Note 37(b).

There was no transfer between Levels 1 and 2 for both years.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis (Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial liabilities

Embedded
derivatives

component of
convertible

notes
HK$’000

  

At 1 April 2015 1,181,324
Changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement  

of profit or loss (647,107)
  

At 31 March 2016 534,217
Changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement  

of profit or loss (235,971)
  

At 31 March 2017 298,246
  

(d) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Apart from the non-cash transactions disclosed in Note 31(b) and Note 32, the Group has no other major non-
cash transactions for both years.
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION – THE COMPANY

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 127,115 85,841
Development in progress – –
Interests in subsidiaries 306,630 267,952
Interests in associates – –

   

433,745 353,793
   

Current assets
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits 9,098 814
Amounts due from associates – –
Cash and cash equivalents 6,203 6,171

   

15,301 6,985
   

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 48,671 45,327
Advances from a Director 1,613,067 1,383,023
Amount due to a subsidiary 205,419 205,425

   

1,867,157 1,633,775
   

Net current liabilities (1,851,856) (1,626,790)
   

Total assets less current liabilities (1,418,111) (1,272,997)
   

Non-current liability
Convertible notes 2,761,989 2,587,653

   

Net liabilities (4,180,100) (3,860,650)
   

Financed by:
Capital and reserves
Share capital 37,625 35,735
Reserves (4,217,725) (3,896,385)

   

Equity attributable to owners of the Company (4,180,100) (3,860,650)
   



112 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

40. RESERVE – THE COMPANY

Share
premium

Contributed
surplus

Share
options
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total

(Note)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 April 2015 – 3,451,893 43,199 (6,868,956) (3,373,864)
Issue of ordinary shares for 

settlement of accounts payables 23,350 – – – 23,350
Loss for the year – – – (559,949) (559,949)
Equity-settled share-based 

payments – – 14,078 – 14,078
Share option lapsed – – (21,429) 21,429 –

      
At 31 March 2016 23,350 3,451,893 35,848 (7,407,476) (3,896,385)

Loss for the year – – – (343,705) (343,705)
Issue of ordinary shares

Exercise of share options 13,718 – (5,748) – 7,970
Placement of new shares 14,400 – – – 14,400

Share issue costs (5) – – – (5)
Share option lapsed – – (12,590) 12,590 –

      

At 31 March 2017 51,463 3,451,893 17,510 (7,738,591) (4,217,725)
      

Note:

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to shareholders, subject 
to the condition that the Company shall not declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of the contributed surplus 
if (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of its 
assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.
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41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2017 and 2016:

Name of subsidiaries

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Particulars 
of issued 
share capital/
registered capital

Effective
interest held

Place of 
operation

Principal 
activities

2017 2016
	 	 	 		 	 	

Cyber Network 
Technology 
Limited*

British Virgin 
Islands

1 share of 
US$1.00

100% 100% Hong Kong Investment 
holding

Gamerian Limited* British Virgin 
Islands

1 share of 
US$1.00

100% 100% Hong Kong Investment 
holding

Mongolia Energy 
Corporation 
(Greater China) 
Limited*

Hong Kong 2 shares with no 
par value

100% 100% Hong Kong Management 
services

Mongolia Energy 
Corporation (HK) 
Limited*

Hong Kong 1 share with no 
par value

100% 100% Hong Kong Management 
services

Mongolia Energy 
Corporation 
Services Limited*

Hong Kong 2 shares with no 
par value

100% 100% Hong Kong Provision of 
secretarial 
and nominee 
services

MoEnCo Mongolia 1,010,000 shares 
of US$1.00 each

100% 100% Mongolia Minerals 
exploration 
and mining 
activities

烏魯木齊蒙富礦業 
有限公司#

The PRC RMB14,299,899 
(2016:  
RMB14,299,899)

100% 100% The PRC Provision of 
mining and 
exploration 
advisory 
service

新疆蒙科能源科技 
有限公司#

The PRC RMB216,415,136  
(2016:  
RMB216,415,136)

100% 100% The PRC Trading of coal 
and operation 
of wash plant

	 	 	 	 	 	

* Subsidiaries directly held by the Company

# Wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected 
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, 
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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42. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 65 and with at least 59 days of service under 
employment in Hong Kong. Contributions from employers and employees are 5% each of the employee’s 
relevant income. The maximum relevant income for contribution purposes is HK$30,000 (2016: HK$30,000) 
per month. The employees are entitled to the full benefit of the Group’s contributions and accrued returns 
irrespective of their length of service with the Group but the benefits are required by law to be presented until 
the retirement age of 65.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mongolia are required to participate in the social 
insurance scheme operated by the local government. According to the “Social Insurance Law of Mongolia”, 
these subsidiaries have a duty to withhold 10% from employees’ salary or similar income and 13% as 
employers’ contribution. Employers’ contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in 
accordance with the social insurance scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in a central 
pension scheme operated by the local municipal governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute 
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit 
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Turnover 11,792 498 12,259 156,701 321,893
      

Loss attributable to owners 
of the Company (3,698,818) (1,038,124) (6,868,030) (553,455) (204,847)

      

(Restated) (Restated)
Loss per share (HK cents) (Note)
– Basic 2.19 0.61 4.07 0.32 0.11

      

– Diluted 2.19 0.61 4.07 0.32 0.11
      

Assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 March 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Total assets 8,336,858 8,056,158 1,105,189 499,694 712,360

Less: total liabilities (3,690,756) (4,428,111) (4,344,040) (4,252,578) (4,643,751)
      

Total net assets (liabilities) 4,646,102 3,628,047 (3,238,851) (3,752,884) (3,931,391)
      

Note: As a result of the capital reorganisation completed on 12 November 2014, figures for 2013 and 2014 have been restated 
for comparative purpose.
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CAUTION REGARDING
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains certain forward-looking statements and 
opinions with respect to the operations and businesses of MEC. 
These forward-looking statements and opinions relate to, among 
other things, our objectives, goals, strategies, intentions, plans, 
beliefs, expectations, and estimates and are generally indicated 
by the use of forward-looking terminology such as believe, expect, 
anticipate, estimate, plan, project, target, may, will, or other results 
of actions that may or are expected to occur in the future. You should 
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements 
and opinions, which apply only as of the date of this Report. These 
forward-looking statements are based on MEC’s own information and 
on information from other sources which MEC believes to be reliable. 

Our actual results may be materially less favourable than those 
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements and 
opinions which could affect the market price of our shares. You should 
also read the risk factors set out under our circulars, announcements, 
and reports for each of the transactions, which are deemed 
incorporated and form part of this document and as qualification 
to the statements relating to the relevant subject matters. Neither 
MEC nor its directors and employees assume any liability in the event 
that any forward-looking statements or opinions do not materialize 
or turn out to be incorrect. Subject to the requirements of the Hong 
Kong Listing Rules, MEC does not undertake to update any forward-
looking statements or opinions contained in this Report.
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中英文版本內容如有歧異，概以英文版本作準。
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CHINESE TRANSLATION
The Chinese translation of this Report is available on request from Mongolia Energy 
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